University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

Health, Exercise, and Sports Sciences ETDs

Education ETDs

9-10-2010

The Impact of the Academic Progress Rating on the Retention and Recruiting Strategies of NCAA Division I Football Programs

Joshua Castle

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/educ hess etds

Recommended Citation

Castle, Joshua. "The Impact of the Academic Progress Rating on the Retention and Recruiting Strategies of NCAA Division I Football Programs." (2010). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/educ_hess_etds/8

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Education ETDs at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Health, Exercise, and Sports Sciences ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

Joshua Castle Candidate
Health Exercise and Sports Science Department
This dissertation is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:
Approved by the Dissertation Committee:
Dr. John Barnes O. Raum, Chairperson
Dr. Breda Bova
Dr. Todd Seidler L. Seidlen
Dr. Annie Clement Annie Clement
(Note: Scanned page with
committee member
signatures as first page of
front matter)
2

THE IMPACT OF THE ACADEMIC PROGRESS RATING ON THE RETENTION AND RECRUITING STRATEGIES OF NCAA DIVISION I FOOTBALL PROGRAMS

BY

JOSHUA CASTLE

B.S., Kinesiology, Pennsylvania State University 2000 M.S., Sport Science, Indiana University of Pennsylvania, 2005

DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Sports Administration

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

July, 2010

DEDICATION

To Julie,

Thank you for all of your love, sacrifice, and support.

Without you, this dissertation or my doctorate would not have been completed.

It is as much your accomplishment as it is mine.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to take this opportunity to thank all the people that have helped me throughout the pursuit of my doctoral degree and this dissertation.

The author would like to express his gratitude, first and foremost to his advisor and chair of this dissertation Dr. John Barnes for the freedom and insight he provided in conducting this study, his constant support and guidance, and his genuine friendship.

The author would also like to extend this same appreciation to the rest of his dissertation committee; Dr. Breda Bova, Dr. Todd Seidler and Dr. Annie Clement. Thank you for making this process as efficient and enjoyable as possible. The author is grateful for your guidance and expertise in order to complete this study.

The author would like to express his thankfulness to Gavin Bevis, Rocky Long, and Michael Locksley for their assistance and support while I pursued my doctorate and worked with the football program during my time at the University of New Mexico.

Without the before mentioned, my Ph.D. would not have been completed.

To the entire Lobo Athletic Department the author would express his deep gratitude for the encouragement and support in this study. The time that the author has spent in this department has been enjoyable and fulfilling professionally, educationally and socially.

The author would like to extend this same gratitude to all his friends and family, especially to Jeremy Castle who was always there when the author needed him.

Most of all the author would like to thank God. Philippians 4:13 "I can do all things through Christ which strengthens me." Without God none of this would have been possible.

THE IMPACT OF THE ACADEMIC PROGRESS RATING ON THE RETENTION AND RECRUITING STRATEGIES OF NCAA DIVISION I FOOTBALL PROGRAMS

BY

JOSHUA CASTLE

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Sports Administration

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

July, 2010

THE IMPACT OF THE ACADEMIC PROGRESS RATING ON THE RETENTION AND RECRUITING STRATEGIES OF NCAA DIVISION I FOOTBALL PROGRAMS

by

JOSHUA CASTLE

B.S., KINESIOLOGY, PENNSYLVANIA STATE UNIVERSITY, 2000 M.S., SPORT STUDIES, INDIANA UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA, 2005 PH.D., SPORTS ADMINISTRATION, UNIVERSITY OF NEW MEXICO, 2010

ABSTRACT

In 2004, the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) adopted legislation that it hoped would help increase the graduation rates of student athletes. The Academic Progress Rating (APR), was designed to hold each individual athletic program accountable for keeping student athletes eligible and at the institution until the student athlete graduates. With this reform the NCAA attached land mark discipline measures for non compliance of the APR standards.

The purpose of this study was to examine the impact that the APR has had on NCAA college football programs. Specifically, this study focused on assessing coaches' and directors of football operations' (DFOs) responses to questions regarding the issues of contention by football coaches and DFOs that lie within the APR legislation and how this legislation has changed their recruiting and retention strategies.

The 234 DFOs and coaches that serve in that position at NCAA Division I institutions were chosen as subjects for this study. They were asked to complete a survey containing questions about how the APR has changed their program's recruiting and

retention strategy. In addition, they were asked how the APR has affected their program's graduation rate, amount of resources they and their athletic department have dedicated to academics, and the amount of transfers they have coming into and leaving their program, due to the APR. These responses were then analyzed to see if there were any differences among BCS automatic bid conferences and non-BCS automatic bid conferences.

The results indicated that there was no significant difference between BCS and non-BCS programs in terms of retention and recruiting strategies due to the APR legislation. However, results did indicate that 45.6% of Division I college football programs changed their recruiting strategy. Of the respondents, 56.3% are slightly less, less, or extremely less likely to recruit prospects that are potential discipline problems. In addition, 64.1% of football programs were slightly less, less, or extremely less likely to recruit academically challenged prospects. While 45.7% of programs said they were slightly less, less or extremely less likely to recruit special admittance prospects.

In terms of retention, 48.6% of football programs indicated that they were slightly more, more, or extremely more likely to retain discipline problems due to the APR. When faced with a student athlete that has convicted a misdemeanor, 17.5% of football programs responded they were slightly more likely or more likely to retain the student athlete.

Other results from this survey showed that 66% of football programs and 75.7% of athletic departments have increased either money or resources to their academic budgets because of the APR legislation. Responses also implied that 61.1% of football programs were slightly more likely, more, or were extremely more likely to monitor class attendance due to the APR legislation. The results also indicated that 83.5% of football

programs feel they have graduated more student athletes since the inception of the APR.

Additionally, 28.2% of football programs stated that they have more student athletes transferring out of their program than into the program.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	xi
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Purpose	4
Study Rational	4
Research Questions	5
Assumptions	6
Limitations	7
Delimitations	7
Definition of Terms	7
CHAPTER 2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE	12
The Impact of Athletics in Higher Education	12
Athletics as a Marketing Tool	16
The Relationship Between Athletics and Freshmen Applications.	17
Student Athletes Academic Performance	19
Characterizing Athletic Success	20
High School Academic Achievement	23
Social Influences	25
NCAA Legislation to Improve on Student Athlete Graduation Rates	27
The NCAA Academic Progress Rating	43
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY	50
Census	51
Research Instrument	51
Pilot Study	54

Procedures55
Data Analysis56
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS59
Recruiting Strategy Results63
Retention Strategy Results68
Other Results73
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION75
Survey Response75
Changes in Recruiting Strategy76
Changes in Retention Strategy79
More Money and Resources Dedicated to Academics81
The Athletic Arms Race83
Increased Graduation Rates83
Transfers84
Future Studies84
Conclussion86
APPENDICES88
APPENDIX A APR SURVEY88
APPENDIX B INTRODUCTION LETTER TO THE DFO92
REFERENCE93

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1. Federal Graduation Rates for Division I Footba	1141
Table 4-1. DFO and Coach Demographic Information	60
Table 4-2. Survey Responses by Conference	61
Table 4-3. Recruiting Strategy Changes Between BCS and	non-BCS Schools65
Table 4-4. Differences in Recruiting Strategy Compared to	BCS and Years in College
Football	67
Table 4-5. Differences in Recruiting Strategy Compared to	BCS and Years in Current
Position	68
Table 4-6. Retention Strategy Changes Between BCS and	non-BCS Schools71
Table 4-7. Differences in Retention Strategy Compared to	BCS and Years in College
Football	72
Table 4-8. Differences in Retention Strategy Compared to	BCS and Years in Current
Position	73

CHAPTER I - INTRODUCTION

Since its inception in 1906, the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) has had to deal with institutions using players that were not really students (Crowley, 2006). However, the connotation in which that statement is made has changed. In the beginning, the NCAA was attempting to eliminate the use of "tramp athletes" or athletes that would jump from school to school just to play intercollegiate athletics (Crowley, 2006).

Now, the NCAA is trying to make sure that students are academically capable of attaining a college degree and attempting to ensure that these student athletes earn a degree. The NCAA governs the academic standards of prospective and current student athletes in an attempt to ensure that only academically qualified students are competing in intercollegiate athletics (Barnes, 2004). One of the newest attempts by the NCAA to ensure this is called the Academic Progress Rating (APR) (Meyer, 2005). As with previous NCAA academic legislation, the APR has been implemented with great debate as to the validity and fairness of the methodology in which the APR legislation has been imposed.

The NCAA implemented the APR on April 29, 2004 in hopes that the legislation would act as a more significant and precise way of measuring whether student athletes are making progress toward their degrees (Christy, Seifried, & Pastore, 2008). It was part of a new academic reform instituted by the NCAA referred to as the Academic Performance Program (APP). The APP includes disclosure requirements by NCAA member institutions for the APR, an Academic Performance Census (APC), and a Graduation Success Rate (GSR) (NCAA, 2009a). The idea behind the APP legislation was that this

reform would hold teams and institutions more accountable for the graduation of student athletes. The late NCAA President Myles Brand proclaimed that this reform was "critically necessary" to make certain student athletes are successful academically (Blackman, 2008, p. 227). However, anytime there is reform or change within a sports organization there will be resistance to the change (Slack & Parent, 2006). In the case of the APR, there was a difference in opinions over the believed outcomes that the legislation would bring (Sperber, 2005.)

Since the time of its origin, average APR scores have increased (Hosick, 2008), but so has the amount of opposition to this legislation. This opposition is primarily due to the increase in penalties imposed by the NCAA for failing to reach the benchmarks established in the APR by-laws. Brand said that the penalties were designed to change behavior and are not intended to be disciplinary (Hosik, 2008).

Two of the biggest opponents to the APR have been historically black colleges and universities (HBCU), and schools that do not compete in the Bowl Championship Series (BCS) Conferences (Christy et al., 2008). The main reason for the opposition is that these schools have been the most affected by the APR legislation. The 2008 APR results had 26 teams in danger of being banned from post-season play if their 2009 APR scores did not improve. All 26 teams belonged to HBCU and non-BCS conferences. "The APP needs critical scrutiny because it appears that a disproportionate level of punishment is being levied against HBCUs and African-American males (Blackman, 2008, p. 228)." Of the 150 college teams facing possible scholarship losses in 2008, only 18 were from BCS schools (Progress Reports, 2008).

One main reason for the disparity between BCS schools and non-BCS schools has been money (Blackman, 2008). One hundred and eighty teams cited insufficient resources as the reason for their poor APR scores (Progress Reports, 2008). Another main reason these institutions cited was the departure of academically ineligible players (Progress Reports, 2008). BCS conference schools generate the most money of the schools that compete in the NCAA. This allows them to funnel revenue generated from athletics into their academic support units, which increases the probability that their student athletes will be successful academically.

The APR has other opponents beyond coaches and athletic department administrators. Some higher education faculty and researchers have been opposed to the APR legislation. Many of these opponents see the APR legislation as merely a counter to the negative public relations that the NCAA was receiving from congressional hearings regarding academic integrity (Mangold et al., 2003). Because of the public relations image restoration effort, many of the APR opponents feel that the APR is not strict enough and does not measure true academic stability at institutions (Sperber, 2005).

Cusack (2007) argued that the APR holds institutions accountable for issues that are beyond their control. Institutions believe that they should not be held accountable for players transferring because they do not get along with teammates, coaches, roommates, or deciding to change majors, etc. If a student athlete decides early in the semester that he/she is going to transfer, there may be limited effort to continue to go to class or study at the institution in which the student athlete is leaving. Sperber (2005) and Wolverton (2006) also believe that the APR legislation will not improve academics at universities, but only encourage more cheating by student athletes, coaches, athletic departments, and

college professors. This same sentiment is held by Penn State football coach Joe Paterno. Paterno believes that if an institution is mandated to graduate 50-60 percent of its student athletes in order to be eligible for a bowl game, then the institution is going to graduate 50-60 percent of its student athletes (Sperber, 2005). When President Brand introduced the APP he proclaimed the new program as "well-thought-out (Blackman, 2008, p. 228)." However, even the most well thought-out plan will have its opponents and the APR is no different.

Statement of the Purpose

The purpose of this study was to examine the impact that the APR has had on NCAA college football programs. Specifically, this study focused on assessing directors of football operations' (DFOs) and coaches that serve in a DFO capacity, responses to questions regarding the issues of contention by football coaches and DFOs that lie within the APR legislation and how this legislation has changed their recruiting and retention strategies.

Study Rationale

- The purpose of the APR as stated by the NCAA is to change behavior.
 The purpose of this study was to show whether institutions have changed their behavior in recruiting academically able student athletes due to the APR legislation or if institutions have found ways to circumvent the rules.
- One of the main missions of the NCAA is to ensure that there are no unfair competitive advantages among member institutions. If the APR unfairly hinders institutions that do not compete in the BCS conferences, then there is a competitive advantage that needs to be addressed.

3. One of the main objections to the APR by coaches is the fact that their programs are penalized for student athletes that leave the program.

Coaches feel as though they can not effectively discipline players that become a nuisance to the program by removing the student from the team without being penalized by the APR. Therefore, some student athletes are not being held accountable for their actions. This study examined whether this is a premise held by a majority of college football coaches and that the amount of transfers coming into the majority of programs is smaller than the amount of student athletes leaving a particular program.

Research Questions

- R₁: Is there a perceived difference in recruiting strategies among college football programs due to the APR?
 - R_{1A}: Is there a difference in recruiting strategies between BCS conference schools and non-BCS conference schools due to the APR?
 - R_{1B}: Is there a difference in recruiting strategies between BCS conference schools and HBCU schools due to the APR?
 - R_{IC}: Is there a difference in recruiting strategies in reference to the number of years working in college football and the APR?
 - R_{1D}: Is there a difference in recruiting strategies in reference to the number of years working in an individual's current position and the APR?

- R₂: Is there a perceived difference in retention strategies among college football programs due to the APR?
 - R_{2A}: Is there a difference in retention strategies between BCS conference schools and non-BCS conference schools due to the APR?
 - R_{2B}: Is there a difference in retention strategies between BCS conference schools and HBCU schools due to the APR?
 - R_{2C}: Is there a difference in retention strategies in reference to the number of years working in college football and the APR?
 - R_{2D}: Is there a difference in retention strategies in reference to the number of years working in an individual's current position and the APR?
- R₃: Is there a difference in the amount of resources that institutions dedicate to the athletic department for academic efforts before the APR was implemented to after the APR was implemented, due to the APR?
- R₄: Are programs getting the same number of transfers coming into the program as are leaving?

Assumptions

- The survey instrument was a valid measure of the responses to the questions in this study.
- Participants responded honestly and accurately to all questions in the survey instrument.
- 3. Participants' responses were made independently of other participants.

Limitations

- 1. Only Division I Football Coaches and DFOs were surveyed.
- 2. This new survey instrument will have no prior established internal validity beyond a pilot study and evaluation by experts in the field.

Delimitations

- The results of this study are indicative of recruiting and retention strategies
 that were conducted by the institution at the time that the study was
 conducted.
- The survey questionnaire was filled out by the Director of Football
 Operations or a corresponding position and filled out by him/her with the head coaches input.

Definition of Terms

- 1. NCAA Division I: The top tier of NCAA competition. Schools that compete the majority of the time against other Division I institutions in seven men's and seven women's, or alternatively six men's and eight women's sports. There are requirements for attendance, scheduling and financial aid (Fulks, 2000).
- 2. Varsity Athletics: According to the 2009-2010 NCAA Manual- "The constitution, bylaws and other legislation of this Association, unless otherwise specified therein, shall apply to all teams in sports recognized by the member institution as varsity intercollegiate sports and that involve all-male teams, mixed teams of males and females, and all-female teams. To

be recognized as a varsity sport, the following conditions must be met: (a) The sport shall be one in which the Association conducts championships, except as provided in Bylaw 20.9.3.2.1 or an emerging sport for women per Bylaw 20.02.5; (b) The sport officially shall have been accorded varsity status by the institution's chief executive officer or committee responsible for intercollegiate athletics; (c) The sport is administered by the department of intercollegiate athletics; (d) The eligibility of student-athletes participating in the sport shall be reviewed and certified by a staff member designated by the institution's executive officer or committee responsible for intercollegiate athletics policy; and (e) Qualified participants in the sport shall receive the institution's official varsity awards (NCAA, 2009a).

- 3. Academic Progress Rating (APR): A calculation that accounts for currently enrolled student athletes receiving institutional financial aid based on athletics ability or, for those institutions or teams that do not offer athletics aid, recruited student-athletes. The rate shall account for the institution's success in retaining and graduating all such student-athletes.

 In addition, the rate shall account for the academic eligibility of the student athletes including all applicable NCAA, conference and institutional academic eligibility requirements (NCAA, 2009a).
- 4. Academic Performance Program (APP): NCAA legislation that was put in place to ensure Division I membership is dedicated to providing student athletes with an educational experience in an environment that recognizes

- and supports the primacy of the academic mission of its member institutions, while enhancing the ability of student athletes to earn a four-year degree (NCAA, 2009a). The APR, APC, and the GSR all make up the APP.
- 3. Academic Performance Census (APC): "The APC is an annual compilation of academic performance variables (e.g., credit hours, grade point average) mandated by Division I legislation" (NCAA, 2007a).
- 4. *Graduation Success Rate (GSR)*: A six- year proportion of those students and student athletes who graduated from the institution versus those who entered the institution. This is different from the Federal Graduation Rates in that the GSR takes into account students that transfer into an institution mid-year (NCAA, 2007a).
- 5. Bowl Championship Series (BCS): The Sugar Bowl, Fiesta Bowl, Orange Bowl, Rose Bowl. These bowls have contracts with the Big-Ten, Pac-10, Big 12, SEC, ACC and the Big East, that dictate that the champions of these conferences play in one of the specific bowls unless they are playing in the NCAA National Championship Game (BCS, 2009).
- 6. *BCS School*: An institution that competes in the Big-Ten, Pac-10, Big 12, SEC, ACC or the Big East Conferences, and the conference champion receives an automatic bid to either the Sugar Bowl, Fiesta Bowl, Orange Bowl, Rose Bowl.
- 7. Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCU): institutions founded primarily for the education of African-Americans. There are 105

- institutions in the United States with this classification (Department of Interior, 2009)
- 8. Core Courses: A core course is a high school course that must: (a) Be an academic course in one or a combination of these areas: English, mathematics, natural/physical science, social science, foreign language, non-doctrinal religion or philosophy; (b) Be four-year college preparatory; (c) Be at or above your high school's regular academic level (no remedial, special education or compensatory courses); and (d) Be completed not later than the high school graduation date of your class [as determined by the first year of enrollment in high school (ninth grade) or the international equivalent] (NCAA, 2007b).
- 9. Grade Point Average (GPA): The NCAA calculates a potential student athlete's grade point average using a 4 point scale: A=4, B=3, C=2, and D=1. An F on a transcript does not earn any points (NCAA, 2007b).
- 10. *Retention*: A student athlete is considered retained if he/she returns to the institution for the next academic term and is enrolled full time as of the fifth week of classes. Retention does not require the student athlete to return to the team, just the institution (NCAA, 2007b).
- 11. Academic Eligibility: A student athlete is considered to be eligible if he/she meets all of the academic eligibility requirements for the institution, conference, and NCAA after the completion of the term (NCAA, 2007a).
- 12. Exhausted Eligibility: A recruited student athlete has exhausted his/her eligibility for competition in the sport in which athletic related aid was

awarded, if the student athlete: (a) has exhausted his/her five-year clock;
(b) is a partial or non-qualifier who has used three seasons of competition and fails to earn a fourth season of competition by not completing 80 percent of his/her degree program prior to the beginning of their fifth year;
(c) a fall sport student athlete who concludes his/her competitive eligibility at the end of the fall term and does not return to the institution subsequent to the fall term; (d) A spring sport student athlete who concludes his/her competitive eligibility at the end of four years (NCAA, 2007a)

- 13. *Graduation*: A student athlete is considered to have graduated for the purposes of the APR when he/she has completed all graduation requirements and is considered by the institution to have graduated (NCAA, 2007a).
- 14. *Census Date*: The designated day in an academic term when an institution takes official enrollment counts. This date is determined by the institution and will vary from institution to institution (NCAA, 2007a).
- 15. Federal Graduation Rates: A graduation rate (percent) is based on a comparison of the number (N) of students who entered a college or university and the number of those who graduated within six years (NCAA, 2009b).

CHAPTER II - REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The purpose of this chapter is to review the current literature associated with intercollegiate athletics and its role in higher education. Chapter 2 is subdivided into the following areas: (1) The Impact of Athletics in Higher Education; (2) Student Academic Performance; (3) NCAA Legislation to Improve on Student Athlete Graduation Rates; and (4) The NCAA Academic Progress Rating (APR).

The Impact of Athletics in Higher Education

Since early Greek and Roman times, sports have played an important role within society. Athletics was considered a celebration of the human body and human accomplishment (Scott, 1951). Sporting events coincided with festivals and holidays as a tribute to the gods. Today, sports have an important impact on American society. But in many ways sports have become the primary reason behind the celebrations. The Super Bowl, NCAA National Championship games and tournaments have drawn family, friends, and the general public to gather together to celebrate. Many of these gatherings have their own special rituals and traditions that have continued for decades (Beyer & Hannah, 2000).

The athletes that participate in these spectacles have been elevated to the status of gods in the eyes of the public. They have been elevated above the rest of society by the media and marketing campaigns. Athletics have a tremendous impact on people's lives. They influence our society in multiple ways and levels: culturally, socially, educationally and economically (Coakley, 2004).

Culturally, the impact of sport can be illustrated by the clothes we wear, the foods we eat, and the clichés we use. Socially, the effect of athletics can be seen by the gender,

racial, and political issues that have been entrenched into athletic competition.

Educationally, sports in some cases are seen as a valuable teaching tool. Economically, sports can have a tremendous impact on communities (Goff, 2000; Howard & Crompton, 2004). College sport has grown into a multibillion-dollar industry (Howard & Crompton, 2004).

All of these influences can be seen in a variety of spectrums from youth football and Little League Baseball, to interscholastic sports into intercollegiate athletics through to the Olympics and professional sporting events. There is no escaping the impact of sports in our society. Coakley (2004) stated that sports are much more than a reflection of society. They are so engrained into the fabric of society that society reflects and reacts to what happens in the sporting world.

Since the late 1800's, sports have been a part of the higher education system in the United States (Caughron, 2001; Crowley, 2006; Ridpath, 2008). Athletic scholarships from colleges and universities have given countless individuals opportunities for continued education. Intercollegiate athletics have played a major role in universities for decades. They are an essential part of collegiate life (Toma & Cross, 1996).

Athletics have a noted value to current students, alumni, and the general public. For all of them a sense of pride, community, and school spirit is produced by a connection to their universities' sports teams (Beyer & Hannah, 2000). For students, sporting events provide a venue for one of the main social functions at universities. Alumni gain from the notoriety that comes from the accomplishments of these sport teams. Spectators from outside the community pour thousands of dollars into local economies, which in some cases is the main revenue source for many merchants.

As intercollegiate athletics has grown in popularity, so has the money that is involved with college sports (Zimbalist, 1999). In his book *Beer and Circus*, Sperber (2000) discussed how institutions classified as research one, meaning their primary purpose is to develop research, use intercollegiate athletics as a way to attract more students to their institutions. Thus, generating more money to pay administrators and distinguished faculty members, not to teach but to conduct research.

This premise has created a great debate between college academics and the role that college athletics should play in higher education. The commercialization of college athletics has led many researchers to attack the current system and call for a reform (Sperber, 1990; Sperber, 2000; Sack & Staurowsky, 1998; Dudererstadt, 2000; Shulman & Bowen, 2001). The call for reform of intercollegiate athletics comes from a variety of places, including; The Knight Commission, the Coalition on Intercollegiate Athletics (COIA) and the Drake Group. The Drake Group and the COIA are a collection of university faculty members and the Knight Commission is a group of university presidents. While these efforts for reform are ongoing, most of the overall efforts have failed to curb the commercialism and academic problems faced everyday in college sport (Ridpath, 2008).

One of the main recommendations by the Knight Commission is to end the "Athletic Arms Race" (Knight Commission, 2001, p. 27). In a report to the Knight Commission, Frank (2004) stated that alumni will donate monies to a university no matter what their athletic success is. Successful athletic teams draw the attention of potential donors; the donors contribute the funds directly to the athletic team, thus diminishing the contributions to the general fund of the university. Frank (2004) also

elaborated on the effect of a Winner-Take-All Market, which he believes is occurring at the university level. A Winner-Take-All Market or an "Arms Race" in the university setting can be illustrated by this example. University X invests one million dollars into their football program in order to receive five million dollars for a bowl appearance contract. University X makes four million dollars from the investment. University Y sees the success and profit of University X and decides to invest two million dollars into its football program, thus making a three million dollar profit. University X then in-turn decides to reinvest three million dollars into its football program thus making a two million dollar profit. This trend continues and the diminished returns reduce the profitability of having a football team. What needs to be remembered in this scenario is that numerous universities are participating in this trend.

There are over one hundred universities competing for a limited number of bowl games or NCAA Basketball Tournament bids. This large pool of universities combined with the "Lake Wobegon Effect" leads to more universities losing money than making money on athletic programs (Frank, 2004, p. 15). The "Lake Wobegon Effect" is the psychological term for the phenomena where everyone thinks that they are above average drivers or that they are above average in looks when asked (Frank, 2004, p. 15). In a similar effect, because universities believe they have above average athletic programs, they spend more money on their athletic programs to ensure success.

As the stakes have risen in college athletics, so has the pressure to win. Many times the money that institutions receive from athletic success is put back into the athletic department in an attempt to attract more and better athletes to the institution. By having a better athletic team, the university hopes to attract more students to the general body

(Sperber, 2000). This in-turn provides the university with the much needed money for the general university fund (Sperber, 2000). In addition, this causes the universities to blur their official and operative goals and these goals sometimes do not align with one another. Official goals are the goals that an institution markets to the public, while operative goals are goals that deal with the actual internal goals of the organization (Slack & Parent, 2006). This misalignment results in a competing values framework between making money and gaining prestige for the university or providing a top notch education to students so that they can succeed in life and enhance our society. When institutions have a goal of making money and gaining prestige, they often turn to athletics as a marketing tool.

Athletics as a Marketing Tool

The positive affects from athletic success drawing more media and sponsor attention to universities is difficult to ignore. Bremmer and Kesselring (1993) stated "A curiosity of higher education is that its primary form of media exposure (and advertising) derives from a distinctly nonacademic enterprise--intercollegiate sports" (p. 410). With an increase in athletic success, studies have shown an increase in media attention. Since media attention on athletic programs is essentially free marketing for the university, it must be seen as a positive influence on the university. Examples of this affect can be seen as far back as 1870, when Harry Barnard, President of Columbia University, stated after a crew team victory that the team did more to make Columbia known than any of their predecessors (Leifer, 1995).

Alan and Peters (1982) determined that the decision of first-year students at DePaul University was positively influenced by the success of the men's basketball team.

They concluded that a key marketing strategy to attract students to the university should include the men's basketball team.

In 1995, Northwestern University had an undefeated football team and earned a trip to the Rose Bowl. National news articles about Northwestern University increased by 185% that year (Honan, 1996). Southern Methodist University in 1987 and 1988 had 133 national stories devoted to their football program (Grimes & Chressanthis, 1994). After being placed on probation by the NCAA that number fell to a mere five to eight stories per year over the next couple of years. This study showed the opposite effect; unsuccessful athletic programs can actually hinder an institution's exposure.

In many ways, athletics is the main source of marketing for Division I institutions. Athletics produces free marketing to thousands of prospective students through newspaper and television coverage of university sporting events. A university would be hard pressed to find a more efficient and effective way of spreading its name and identity to the masses. Many administrators have made the realization that a winning team can provide an effective means of advertising their institution and securing much needed additional funding (Davies, 1994).

The Relationship between Athletics and Freshmen Applications

The impact of intercollegiate athletic success and increasing freshmen applications is an important argument for the support of athletic programs and is widely contested. This is illustrated by the numerous studies conducted on the matter. Some studies have shown minimal or no significant effects, while others have shown a correlation between the two factors. There are many variables that could account for increases and decreases in freshmen applications. It is hard to pinpoint one deciding

factor and say that it has a lone impact on enrollment (Frank, 2004). However, there are studies that have investigated this correlation and shown a positive effect on freshmen applications. These studies concentrate on Division I institutions, in particular football and men's basketball.

The correlation between football success and an increase in freshmen applications has been given an identifying name among admissions officers. "The Flutie Spike" refers to a phenomenon that happened at Boston College in 1984 (Honan, 1996, p. 34). Doug Flutie capped a dramatic comeback with a touchdown in the last play of the game to lift Boston College over Miami. This incident produced a large increase in freshmen applications the following fall. Applications went from just over 14,000 in 1984 to over 16,000 in 1985 (Honan, 1996).

Borland, Goff and Pulsinelli (1992) found at Western Kentucky University that an improvement from .500 to .750 in basketball winning percentage saw an increase of about 430 applications. Georgia Southern had a five hundred student enrollment increase after adding football as a varsity sport. One hundred students can be accounted for as incoming student-athletes, but that does not explain the additional four hundred students.

Chressanthis and Grimes (1993) found that winning in football translated into increased enrollment demand at Mississippi State University. The study also concluded the reverse to be true. When Mississippi State University was placed under NCAA sanctions, thus lowering football winning percentage, a decrease in freshmen applications was produced.

Another example of athletic success translating into increased applications to a university occurred in 1995. The University of Connecticut won the Women's Basketball

National Championship and their men's basketball team made it to the quarter-finals of the NCAA Tournament, a study indicated that twenty-two percent of all the people aged sixteen and over said they would like to apply for admission because of the success of the basketball programs. That fall applications to the University of Connecticut increased by 4.2 percent (Honan 1996).

With all the benefits and financial incentives that athletics can offer universities, many outsiders and faculty members question, what are the student athletes getting in return? The question becomes whether the student athletes are being exploited and what are the institutions of higher education and the NCAA doing to ensure that student athletes are not being taken advantage of. While the NCAA and its member institutions are showing that in some instances the graduation of student athletes is higher than the graduation of the general student body (Lawry, 2005), the question of academic integrity still remains.

Student Athletes Academic Performance

The exploitation of student athletes by institutions of the NCAA has long been debated and criticized. Many critics believe that major intercollegiate athletic programs at the Division I level are destroying the undergraduate educational system (Sperber, 2000, Mangold, Bean & Adams, 2003) and that these universities are not fulfilling their obligation of providing quality educational opportunities to student athletes (Ferris, Finster, & McDonald, 2004). The research surrounding this issue is extremely contradictory. For every article that supports the notion that institutions are not fulfilling their obligation, there is an equally powerful piece of research that shows they are or that researchers are comparing apples to oranges, and not apples to apples.

However, due to increased media and public perception that institutions are exploiting student athletes, the NCAA, over the past three years, has instituted stricter by-laws on member institutions to improve on the graduation rates for student athletes (Meyer, 2005). These stricter by-laws make it increasingly important for colleges and universities to identify barriers to academic achievement in order to improve on graduation rates. The NCAA has promised unprecedented sanctions for institutions that fail in fulfilling their obligation to their student athletes and society (Meyer, 2005). In order for institutions of higher education to avoid these sanctions and fulfill their obligations, it is important for each individual university to understand the barriers that prevent their student athletes from obtaining academic success.

Characterizing Athletic Success

There is a perception for many student athletes that intercollegiate athletics is merely a stepping-stone to their professional careers. Sperber (2000) believed that some institutions foster this belief and use the dreams of young naïve student athletes to take advantage of them. This sentiment could have stemmed from a study conducted by Adler and Adler (1985). In that study, it was believed that student athletes enter college with every intention of earning a college degree. Student athletes entered college with optimistic and idealistic attitudes and goals about their academic career in college. This optimism and idealism progressively was relinquished as the student athletes advanced through their years at the university. The athletes indicated that their athletic careers became barriers to their academic pursuits.

The idea that athletics is a barrier to academic achievement would be supported by Maloney and McCormick (1992), who suggested that athletes perform worse in-season

than out-of-season. This could be due to the demanding training and practice routines that athletes have.

The amount of time that student athletes give to athletics is much more than non-athletes give to their extra-curricular activities (Umbach, Palmer, Kuh, & Hannah, 2006). As a result of this, many of the athletes become disengaged with their expectations and goals for their academic careers. This disengagement of academic goals and dreams by student athletes resulted in sub-standard grades or simply meeting the bare minimum of academic standards, in order to pursue their own or the institution's alternative athletic careers. However, it should be noted that Maloney and McCormick (1992) found that students involved in revenue generating sports on average do worse than non-revenue generating student athletes and that student athletes that participated in non-revenue generating sports performed academically the same as non-athletes.

Lally and Kerr (2005) determined the opposite effect occurred; student athletes became more focused on their academic career as they went through college. Their results indicated that student athletes entered college with no or limited knowledge as to their own academic career objectives. This was due mostly to their self-identity as an athlete. As the student athlete's career evolved, some of them discarded their sports career ambitions and allowed their student identity to become more apparent. The lack of career planning maturity was then a barrier that prevented the student-athletes from having the focus that is needed to achieve academic success in their first and most vital years of college. It could be as student athletes see the possibility of their professional athletic careers fade that they become more focused on their alternative academic dreams.

It is also possible that they are like every other college student and really not know what they want as a career or how to get to that career.

People that self identify as athletes have an athlete identity, which means they focus their lives and attention around athletics (Beamon & Bell, 2006). The athlete identity and expectation of athletic success beyond intercollegiate athletics was considered to be a major barrier for academic success among minority student athletes (Beamon & Bell, 2006). In their study, minority student athletes that came from a low socioeconomic background often see athletics as the most viable means of economic success. This focus and belief is instilled in individuals at a young age and fosters a belief of ensured success despite the odds. The overall identification as athletes therefore places athletic success over academic success. The only reason to pursue academics is to maintain eligibility, which the researchers also found to be reinforced by athletes' parents. The authors further found that the more parents pushed for academic success, then the more academically successful the student athlete. However, it was also found the more likely the parents were to stress academic success; the parents were also more likely to stress athletic success. The emphasis to place athletics above academics was still present.

The idea of athletic success and identity being barriers to academic success is not isolated to the collegiate ranks. These perpetuated beliefs often first arise in the scholastic arena and then transfer to college. The lack of focus in high school then condemns the athlete to mediocrity or worse in college. This philosophy is discussed in the next section.

High School Academic Achievement

Many researchers believe that one of the main barriers for student athletes not achieving academic success is the student athletes' lack of preparedness academically for the rigors of higher education. Sperber, in his book Beer and Circus (2000), discussed how he feels that big-time college athletics is crippling undergraduate education. He classifies student athletes as vocational workers paying their way through college through a non-academic means. Sperber (2000) says that this is a result of universities' officials being forced to admit non-qualified student athletes into institutions of higher education. Because poorly qualified student athletes are being allowed into these institutions they are forcing the institutions and their faculty to lower their expectation of students and offer courses that are defined as "jock classes" where there are little expectations (Sperber, 2000, p. 83). Sperber (2000) discussed how big time athletics and the "circus" around them is designed to attract students to the university, keep them entertained while they attend, and get them to donate money to the university after they leave (Sperber, 2000, p. 96). Sperber (2000) also discussed how institutions keep the status quo by forcing athletes into majors that keep them eligible to participate in intercollegiate competitions even though it might not be the student athletes' best interest. This aspect can lead into the academic disengagement discussed in an earlier section.

Previously Maloney and McCormick (1992) had presented similar findings. Their research indicated that college athletes do not perform as well in the classroom as their non-athlete peers. Their findings showed that student athletes came into college with inferior high school preparation and scored on average 150 points lower on their SAT

scores. Because of this deficit, graduation rates for student athletes were about 10% lower than the general student population. The authors suggested that a strong academic background in high school is critical to academic achievement in college. Essentially, good grades in high school lead to good grades within the college environment.

Umbach, Palmer, Kuh, and Hannah (2006), analyzed the current educational practices of athletes and compared it to the educational practices of non-athletes. In particular, the authors discussed the engagement in effective educational practices.

Previous research has suggested that student athletes are under-prepared for the academic demands of higher education and receive preferential treatment. The researchers concluded that student engagement in academics was a function of both individual effort and institutional practices and procedures to make educationally purposeful activities. On average, student athletes are as engaged in purposeful educational activities as their non-athlete peers. This study suggests that in general there are few differences between athletes and non-athletes academically. However, athletes did report that their institutions provided more academic and social support than they do non-athletes. This is supported by the fact that student athletes (62%) at many institutions have a higher graduation rate than non-athletes (60%) (NCAA, 2004). These differences could be due to the tutoring and academic support that student athletes at some institutions receive.

Wolniak, Pierson, and Pascarella (2001) showed that the differences in academic support and tutoring could eliminate athletic participation as a barrier. The researchers accounted for numerous variables that could also be considered barriers to college academic achievement. One of the variables included pre-college cognitive test scores,

and pre-college academic motivation, the results of their study indicted that student athletes made net gains in learning similar to their non-athlete counterparts.

Social Influences

There are a great many social variables that could effect and be considered barriers to academic achievement. These social variables however, never really stand alone, but it is the interaction with each of the other variables that make them pragmatic. Storch, Storch, Killiany, and Roberti (2005) studied these variables. The purpose of their research was to identify differences between athletes and non-athletes in psychosocial maladjustments. Prior research had indicated that athletes have higher levels of alcohol use, symptoms of depression, social anxiety, and less social support than their non-athlete counterparts. These attributes often are in direct or indirect conflict with achieving academic success. There are numerous stressors associated with student athletes moving into more elite intercollegiate levels of competition. Athletes in some situations go from being elite in high school to becoming average or below average athletically in college. Combine that with moving away from friends and family and often times elite athletes have difficulties in adjusting. These difficulties in athletics often matriculate into their academic sphere and affect their ability to be successful. Student athletes often times see their inadequacies on the playing field and attempt to rectify the situation by devoting more time to their athletic endeavors, sacrificing study time in its place. Female athletes reported significantly higher differences in social anxiety, symptoms of depression and social support than their male counterparts and both sexes of non-athletes. Intercollegiate athletes also reported a greater need for counseling regarding time management, stress,

burnout, fear of failure, anxiety, depression and performance related issues (Storch et al, 2005).

Wolniak, Pierson, and Pascarella (2001), addressed numerous variables that could also be considered barriers to college academic achievement. These variables included: pre-college cognitive test scores, race, age, socio-economic status, pre-college academic motivation, in addition to various academic and non-academic experiences during college. The results of their study indicated that student athletes made net gains in learning similar to their non-athlete counterparts. The results also indicated that affiliation in a Greek organization conflicted more than athletics in regards to academic achievement. Membership in both groups (student athlete and Greek organizations) was found to be a major barrier to academic success during the sophomore year of college. The desire for athletes to be involved with Greek organizations could stem from the psychosocial maladjustments discussed by Storch et al (2005).

Race was also considered to be one of the social barriers that can limit the academic achievement of student athletes. With a great number of student athletes in football and men's basketball being from a minority background this is an important issue to address. Beamon, and Bell (2006), in their study looked at color and culture as potential barriers for academic success. Minority student athletes that come from a low socioeconomic background often see athletics as the most viable means of economic success. This focus and belief is instilled in individuals at a young age and fosters a belief of ensured success despite the odds. This belief is often reinforced through media images, role models, and parents, which encourages them to become athletes. The overall

identification as athletes therefore places athletic success over academic success. It was the belief for many of the study's subjects that the only reason to pursue academics is to maintain eligibility, which the researches also found to be reinforced by the athletes' parents (Beamon & Bell, 2006). Due to these low expectations, black student athletes faced more difficulties in front of academic review boards and are more likely to be suspended instead of given second chances. Beamon and Bell (2006), further found that the more parents pushed academic success the more academically successful the student athlete. However it was also found the more likely the parents were to stress academic success, the more likely the parents were also to stress athletic success. The emphasis to place academics above athletics was still not present. One thing that was found by the authors was that the more likely the parents were to attend a student athlete's game the better the student performed academically.

Many of these social influences can cause student athletes to transfer from one institution to another, in addition to directing their focus on a specific element of their lives, sports or academics. That also leads into the question of whether programs are getting the same number of transfers coming into the program as are leaving.

NCAA Legislation to Improve on Student Athlete Graduation Rates

The NCAA has been concerned about eligibility and graduation of student athletes since the organization's inception (Crowley, 2006; Ridpath, 2008). Initially, intercollegiate athletics was governed and implemented by students at the universities that they attended. However, faculty and administration soon realized that institutional oversight was needed in regards to intercollegiate athletics (Ridpath, 2008). The student

groups that were in control of intercollegiate athletics, in the post-Civil War era, hired players and allowed them to compete as non-students (Gorn & Goldstein, 1993). The wide use of "ringers" and "tramp athletes" by most colleges during this time left many to wonder who was in control of intercollegiate athletics (Crowley, 2006, p. 4). Most of these ringers and tramp athletes were football and baseball players. As more and more colleges and universities used these tramp athletes and these practices became the norm, faculty members started to assert their displeasure with the current system (Barnes, 2004; Crowley, 2006). In the 1890's Harvard, Wisconsin, Michigan and other institutions' faculty committees sought to discontinue the sport of football (Crowley, 2006).

After the Civil War, football became a major college sport that captured the attention of the nation (Crowley, 2006). The game was extremely violent with numerous deaths resulting from the sport. In 1905, there were 18 fatalities and 149 serious injuries, which outraged numerous opponents to the game (Falla, 1981). That year, President Theodore Roosevelt gave university presidents a choice: reform football or abolish it. In 1906 the Western Conference met in Chicago and discussed possible changes to football and the athletic programs. Their suggestions included a one year residency before being able to participate; satisfactory academic performance by players; coaches to be institutional staff members and not professionals that were paid at regular faculty salaries; cost reductions and cheap fees for student admission (Crowley, 2006). "The meeting was directed toward developing a strong faculty control over athletic programs" (Crowley, 2006, p. 5). These reformers made some progress in curbing recruiting and subsidization abuses in college athletics, but the problem still persisted (Falla, 1981). Later in 1906, a larger group of institutions met in New York. The desire for institutional control over

athletics, and increased pressure by President Roosevelt to govern the sport of college football, eventually lead to the formation of the Intercollegiate Athletic Association of the United States, which was changed the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) four years later (Scott, 1951). The "Association's father was football and its mother was higher education" (Hawes, 1999, p.1).

Since its beginning, the NCAA has implemented multiple by-laws to attempt to ensure that the exploitation of student athletes and academic corruption does not occur. However enforcement of these rules was left to the individual institution for 50 years in what is known as "Home Rule" (Crowley, 2006 p. 15). The initial goal of this idea was total faculty control. While the NCAA and its member institutions had rules dealing with amateurism, recruiting players and offering inducements, the NCAA was not responsible for enforcing those rules. It was left to individual institutions to enforce the rules (Falla, 1981).

In 1922, the NCAA approved a 10-point code. This code reiterated to the NCAA member institutions the principles of amateurism, the freshmen rule, a prohibition of graduate students and migrant player participation, the importance of not gambling and absolute faculty control of athletics (Falla, 1981). Four years later the Carnegie Foundation published a report on the state of intercollegiate athletics. In the study, it was concluded that faculty control failed all too frequently in managing intercollegiate athletics (Crowley, 2006) and found them to be in a state of disarray (Barnes, 2004). "Home-rule" was not working because rules were not universal and rules did not always align with the academic purposes and missions of the universities (Barnes, 2004, p. 20).

The report also concluded that commercialism and negligent attitudes toward education was at the root of the problem. These defects stemmed from heavy burdens of time on student athletes to study and isolation from the regular student body (Crowley, 2006). "Students who are on scholarship must practice, train, and play in order to receive their scholarship benefits" (Barnes, 2004, p. 21). Student athletes then had to decide which area of their lives they wanted to emphasize, school or athletics (Barnes, 2004). As college sports and the NCAA grew there was a definite need for the NCAA to take on more of an enforcement role and it did.

In 1940 the NCAA convention gave the Executive Committee the power to investigate and adjudicate (Falla, 1981). The Executive Committee of the NCAA consisted of a group of university presidents that essentially oversaw the NCAA. While enforcement was not included, it opened the door for the NCAA to start to monitor compliance issues of institutions. After World War II the echo of old principles reemerged. The "Sanity Code" refocused the association on amateurism, recruitment, institutional control, and academic standards for athletes (Crowley, 2006, p. 30). The Sanity Code was different from the previous legislation. It provided the executive committee with the power to interpret the constitution and enforce the bylaws of the organization. However the only penalty that institutions faced for violations was expulsion from membership, which also required two-thirds vote from the convention delegates (Hawes, 1991).

Because of the harsh penalty and the almost impossibility of expulsion the Sanity Codes were repealed in 1951. Later that year the NCAA approved a new code which

covered many of the same concerns regarding curriculum matters, academic progress, financial assistance, eligibility and adherence to the rules (Crowley, 2006). The new code also established the Subcommittee on Infractions (Falla, 1981).

Again a call for reform came in the early 1950's, this time it was from the American Council on Education (ACE) (Crowley, 2006). ACE is a group of faculty that is guided by institutional presidents. Their goals were to: relieve external pressures on athletics, protect institutional control, develop strong enforcement measures, and suggest standards of practice (Byers & Hammer, 1995). Part of the actions that ACE wanted to implement to reach these goals was admission standards for athletes and non-athletes to be the same (Byers & Hammer, 1995). ACE's efforts met with little avail and the committee faded (Crowley, 2006).

As the NCAA grew in terms of members and power, Walter Byers, the newly elected President of the NCAA focused on enforcement (Crowley, 2006). Television revenues for college athletics began to grow and a rift in the NCAA led to the classification of colleges and universities into divisions (Crowley, 2006).

The first attempts of the NCAA to control academic integrity would now be considered to be minimal at best. A study in 1962 conducted by the NCAA examined the academic records of 40,900 student athletes from 80 member institutions. The results from this study were developed into an expectancy table to predict academic success (Barnes, 2004). In 1965, this developed into the NCAA's first freshmen eligibility rule and the 1.60 Rule was adopted. The premise behind this legislation was to curb the admission of student athletes with questionable academic credentials (Crowley, 2006).

With this rule, any incoming freshmen must be predicted to obtain at least a 1.60 grade point average on a 4.00 scale (GPA) over his/her college career. The prediction was based on high school rank, and/or GPA and standardized testing (either ACT or SAT). It was hoped that this formula would make the student athlete population comparable to the general student body (Byers & Hammer, 1995). The rule, however, was not without opposition. Harvard, Yale and Pennsylvania refused to apply the rule and were barred from postseason competition. Other opponents believed that a C- average was too low of a standard, while others schools, particularly HBCUs, believed that the standardized test showed a bias against economically disadvantaged students (Crowley, 2006).

The 1.60 rule was replaced in 1973 by the 2.00 Rule. The 2.00 Rule stated that any incoming freshmen must have a high school GPA of at least 2.00. Some felt that this was actually a regression from the 1.60 Rule because the 1.60 actually predicted that the student athlete was capable of doing at least "C" work, where as the 2.00 Rule did not really predict anything (Pickle, 2008). Then NCAA Executive Director, Walter Byers was quoted as saying, "Losing the 1.60 rule was one of the most painful experiences in the 22 years I had then served" (Byers & Hammer, 1995, p. 165-166). The 2.00 essentially created an open enrollment policy for students to participate in intercollegiate athletics (Petr, 1988). The 2.00 Rule also brought about opposition from ACE, who once again called for reform and rehabilitation of college athletics in1974 (Barnes, 2004; Crowley, 2006). Because of the 2.00 Rule and the basic ineffectiveness of the rule, a movement began to change the education landscape of college athletics. This movement eventually led to a stronger freshmen eligibility policy, "Prop 48" (Pickle, 2008).

The reform movement developed from the public gaining knowledge of poor student athlete graduation rates and athletic cheating scandals (Sperber, 1990). From 1974-1983 the NCAA committee on infractions handed out punishments on eleven different cases (Crowley, 2006). It was the belief that these infractions occurred because some student athletes were not academically prepared for higher education. A majority of these cases involved football and basketball programs (Crowley, 2006).

Proposition 48 was one of the most controversial by-laws in the history of the organization. Even during its inception at the 1983 NCAA convention, debates raged (Pickle, 2008).

Proposition 48 had three criteria for freshmen eligibility: The student athletes must have 2.0 GPA, must have 11 core courses, and must have scored a 700 on the SAT (Sellers, 1992). This last factor was the main debate point. Many leaders at Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCU) felt that the SAT score standard discriminated against economically challenged minorities. This debate continued after Proposition 48 was passed, but this time in the courts of law. The NCAA "has been praised, vilified and taken before congress- all because what the legislation represented and how it evolved" (Pickle, 2008, p. 34). The controversy over this legislation lasted for two decades (Byers & Hammer, 1995; Crowley, 2006).

After the inception of Proposition 48, the NCAA did see an increase in graduation rates at member institutions. However, the NCAA's Special Committee on Academic Research found that Proposition 48 did have an adverse impact on minorities (Hishinuma, 1999; Hishinuma & Fremstad, 1997; Crowley, 2006).

The advent of Proposition 48 did not solve all of the NCAA's academic integrity problems and the call for reform still echoed on many college campuses. In 1985, the "Integrity Convention" had eight reform policies proposed (Crowley, 2006, p. 68).

Among them was an annual academic report that would cover entrance requirements, high school GPA reports for football and men's basketball players, and information regarding eligibility and graduation rates for recruited student athletes and the general student body (Crowley, 2006). These measures passed and two years later the "death penalty" was issued to Southern Methodist University (SMU) in part due to academic integrity issues, recruiting violations and extra benefits (Crowley, 2006, p. 68).

With the issuance of the "death penalty" to SMU, credibility was added to the Associations standards and goals (Crowley, 2006, p. 68). However, five years later the NCAA and its member institutions would face another problem. In 1990, Dexter Manley, a former football star at Oklahoma State University testified before Congress that he was able to get into college even though he was illiterate (Ferris, 2004). Because of the congressional hearing the House and the Senate passed the Student Right-to-Know and Campus Security Act, which mandated colleges and universities to report graduation statistics to the Secretary of Education (Ferris, 2004). As a part of this, the NCAA instituted the Mandatory Academic Support for Student Athletes bylaw in 1991 (Meyer, 2005). This by-law mandated that Division I institutions have counseling and tutoring services for all student athletes.

The congressional hearings created the call for reform once again. Many of the same groups criticized the NCAA including the Carnegie Foundation, ACE and some

new organizations like the Knight Commission and the Mellon Foundation (Crowley, 2006).

The Knight Commission in 1991 issued a report that called for the reform of intercollegiate athletics in three areas: Presidential Control; Financial Responsibility; and Academic Integrity. The Knight Commission made specific recommendation in each one of these areas.

The Knight Commission had numerous suggestions for presidential control. The commission felt that trustees should explicitly endorse and reaffirm presidential authority in athletics governance, delegate authority over finances, affirm the president's authority for personnel and annually review athletics program. They also felt that presidents should oversee and act to control conferences in addition to controlling the NCAA. In addition to these recommendations, presidents should be committed to gender equity and controlling their institutions involvement with commercial television (Knight Commission, 1993).

In terms of academic integrity, the commission suggested restricting special admittances for athletes, monitoring progress toward degrees, and that graduation rates should be a criterion for NCAA certification (Knight Commission, 1993). Specifically, the commission made a number of policy recommendations which included:

The NCAA should strengthen initial eligibility requirements: By 1995, initial eligibility should be based on a 2.00 average in 15 units of high school academic work and a combined score of 700 on the SAT or 17 on the ACT; High school student-athletes should be ineligible for reimbursed campus visits (or signing a letter of intent)

until they show reasonable promise of being able to meet degree requirements; Junior college transfers who did not, on graduating from high school, meet proposition 48 requirements, should "sit out" a year of competition after transfer; The NCAA should study the feasibility of requiring the range of academic abilities of incoming athletes to approximate the range of abilities of the entire freshman class; The letter of intent should serve the student as well as the athletics department; Athletics scholarships should be offered for a five-year period; Athletics eligibility should depend on progress toward a degree; Graduation rates of athletes should be a criterion for NCAA certification (Knight Commission, 1993, p. 11).

The report received positive public reception and some of the suggestions were implemented by the NCAA (Crowley, 2006).

In 1992, Proposition 16 was voted into existence and was later implemented in 1995. Proposition 16 was similiar to Proposition 48. Proposition 16 changed the core course requirement from 11 to 13 classes. It also changed the SAT and the GPA requirements. The system went to a sliding scale. The higher a student athletes' GPA was, the lower the SAT requirement. The scale worked the other way as well. The higher the student athletes' SAT score was, the lower the GPA requirements (Pickle, 2008). In addition, Proposition 16 also eliminated the term of partial qualifier for NCAA Division I member institutions. Proposition 16 again brought back the debate over the discrimination of minorities for using standardized testing to determine eligibility (Hishinuma, 1999; Hishinuma & Fremstad, 1997).

Another part of the academic reform initiatives proposed by the NCAA in 1992 was the 25/50/75 Rule (Meyer, 2005). Later the NCAA would change this to the 40/60/80 Rule. To be eligible to represent an NCAA institution in intercollegiate athletic competition, a student athlete must be enrolled in at least a minimum full-time program of studies, be in good academic standing and maintain progress toward a baccalaureate or equivalent degree (NCAA, 2007). The terms "good academic standing" and "progress toward degree" are interpreted by each individual member institution (NCAA, 2009a, p. 148). The academic officials that determine the meaning and application of such terms for the general student body are also responsible for determining this for all student athletes as well. This is subject to the controlling regulations of the institution; the conference the institution is a member of, and any applicable NCAA legislation (NCAA, 2007). The NCAA has set provisions that dictate how member institutions calculate progress toward degree. These provisions are highlighted in NCAA Bylaw 14.4.3.1.7 (2009a, p. 150), which states:

(a) During the first two years of enrollment, a student-athlete may use credits acceptable toward any of the institution's degree programs;(b)

By the beginning of the third year of enrollment (fifth semester or seventh quarter), a student-athlete shall be required to have designated a program of studies leading toward a specific baccalaureate degree.

From that point, the credits used to meet the progress-toward-degree requirements must be degree credit toward the student's designated degree program;(c) A student-athlete who changes his or her designated degree program may comply with the progress-toward-

degree requirements if:(1) The change in programs is documented appropriately by the institution's academic authorities;(2) The credits earned prior to the change are acceptable toward degree previously sought; and (3) The credits earned from the time of the change are acceptable toward the new desired degree.(d) A student-athlete who has designated a specific degree program with an identified major may not use a course to fulfill the credit-hour requirement for meeting progress toward degree even if the course fulfills an elective component of the student-athlete's degree program, if the student ultimately must repeat the course to fulfill the requirements of the student's major.

Part of the legislation that helps to govern the previous bylaw is the 40/60/80 rule. The 40/60/80 Rule may have the biggest impact on the student athletes' ability in maintaining playing eligibility and act as a student within the general student body (Meyer, 2005). The rule is very simple. In order to stay eligible for competition, a student athlete must have 40% progress toward a specific degree by the beginning of their third year, 60% by the beginning by their fourth year and 80% by the beginning of their fifth year (NCAA, 2009a; Meyer, 2005; Sperber, 2005; Cusack, 2007). Originally, this bylaw was passed in 1992, using the percentages 25/50/75 but was changed in 1996 (Meyer, 2005).

In 2001, the Knight Commission issued a new report. This time the new proposals were met with less-than-enthusiastic response (Crowley, 2006). The

commission suggested a coalition of presidential control directed toward academic reform, in addition to de-escalation of the athletics arms race and deemphasizing the commercialization of intercollegiate athletics (Knight Commission, 2001).

The Commission's 2001 recommendations regarding academic reform included five proposals: First, the commission wanted student athletes to have the same admission processes, academic support, choice of major, progress toward degree requirements as other students. The second part of the commission's recommendations included an improvement on graduation rates and that scholarships should be awarded to student athletes until they graduate. The commission also called for a reduction in playing season, so that student athletes can have an opportunity to complete their degrees and improve the quality of their collegiate experience. The final recommendation that the commission made in regards to academics was requesting the National Basketball Association and the National Football League create a minor league system so that those student athletes not serious about higher education can have an alternative route to their professional careers (Knight Commission, 2001).

As mentioned previously, the 2001 Knight Commission Report received less than favorable reviews. Other groups that called for reform like ACE and the American Association of State Colleges and Universities felt as though the commissions report was too "simply stated" (Crowley, 2006). The NCAA felt as though the suggestions were an extension of the 1991 report and that the NCAA was meeting the original goals and principles of the commission (Brown, 2001). Another group voicing its displeasure was the Faculty Athletic Representatives Association (FARA). FARA felt that faculty must

be at the center of reform because academics are the center of their existence (Hartman & Goldfield, 2001).

The academic reform initiatives taken by the NCAA seem to be working. Over the past five years, graduation rates for student athletes have been on the rise. The NCAA reported improvements in 24 of the 35 sports that are measured by the NCAA (Wolverton, 2006). Overall, the male graduation rates rose from 67.6% for students that began school in 1995 to 71.5% for male students that began school in 2000 (Graduation, 2007). Female student athletes also saw an increase in graduation rates. The graduation rate female student athletes beginning their college careers in 1995 graduation was 84.9%. This increased for female student athletes that began in 2000 to 87.3% (Graduation, 2007). Overall 77% of NCAA Division I student athletes are graduating within six years (Wolverton, 2006). These numbers are more spectacular considering the general student body that started school in 2000 only graduated at 62% (Sander, 2007).

While overall graduation rates have improved, graduation rates for scholarship football players have remained relatively constant. The Federal Graduation rates for football programs that compete at the NCAA Division I level have averaged 52% since 1984 (NCAA, 2009b). Since the inception of the sliding scale in 1995, graduation rates for Division I football program have averaged 54% and have not fallen below 52% (NCAA, 2009b). The 2001-2002 cohort most recently achieved the highest graduation rate in 12 years at 56% (NCAA, 2009b).

Table 2-1

Federal Graduation Rates for Division I Football

Cohort Year	% Graduated	
1983-1984	47	
1983-1984	47	
1984-1985	48	
1985-1986	53	
1986-1987	55	
1987-1988	56	
1988-1989	56	
1989-1990	52	
1990-1991	50	
1991-1992	51	
1992-1993	48	
1993-1994	48	
1994-1995	53	
1995-1996	52	
1996-1997	54	

Table 2-1 (continued)

Cohort Year	% Graduated	
1997-1998	55	
1998-1999	54	
1999-2000	54	
2000-2001	55	
2001-2002	56	
2002-2003	55	

Note. Cohort year represents the student athletes freshmen year. Adapted From "Federal Graduation Rates Data Archive," *The NCAA*, http://www.ncaa.org/wps/ncaa?ContentID=7721

Even with all of the success that these new reforms have had there is still a cost. The 40/60/80 Rule negatively impacts a student athlete ability to act as a normal student in the general student body. The rule does not allow student athletes to change majors and stay eligible to play their sport or forces student athletes to choose a major before they are ready (Wolverton, 2007). A student athlete wanting to change majors may not have the percentage required to compete if they choose to change to an unrelated major from that in which they where previously enrolled (Meyer, 2005; Sperber, 2005; Cusack, 2007). The NCAA does have a waiver process, but it is difficult to understand how or why waivers are granted. According to Wolverton (2007), 20% of student athletes are not able to major in the degree of their choice. The rule has also raised concerns that some

student athletes are cheating their way to eligibility or being forced into easy majors by the institution or athletic program so that the student athletes stay eligible to compete in intercollegiate competition (Wolverton, 2006).

To further address the issue of academic progress, the NCAA allocated \$17.5 million for academic support services at member institutions. Among other things, the money was used to provide degree completion funding for those student athletes that exhausted their eligibility and were within one year of finishing their degree (Meyer, 2005).

The most current NCAA legislation efforts that affect graduation rates are Proposal 2003-26, and the Academic Progress Rating (APR). The APR will be discussed in the next section. Proposal 2003-26 is another extension of "Prop 48." It changed the core course requirement from 14 to 16 starting in 2008 (Pickle, 2008). The core course requirement was changed from 13 to 14 in 2002 with Proposal 22B.

The NCAA Academic Progress Rating (APR)

The NCAA implemented the Academic Progress Rating (APR) in 2003. The APR provides insight into a team's academic success each semester by looking at current academic progress of every student-athlete. The goal of the NCAA is that the APR will provide a "real-time" measure of academic progress (Crowley, 2006, p. 167). The APR includes athletic eligibility, student retention, and graduation rates as factors in the rate calculation and provides a much clearer picture of the current academic culture in each sport and at each institution. Each Division I varsity sports team receives an APR score.

An APR of 925 (out of 1,000) equals roughly a 60 percent Graduation Success Rate ("Inside the APR", 2006; "Poor-grade Penalties", 2007).

Institutions and teams can receive penalties or praise from the NCAA based on their APR. High-performing teams receive public recognition from the NCAA. Teams that score below 925 and have a student-athlete who failed academically and left school can lose scholarships. Teams can lose up to ten percent of their scholarships each year for poor academic performance under the immediate penalty structure. Teams with APR scores below 925 face additional sanctions under the historical penalty structure. This penalty structure follows:

- First-year sanction is a public warning letter for poor performance.
- Second-year sanctions include restrictions on scholarships, recruiting and practice time.
- Third-year sanctions result in loss of postseason competition for the team.
- Four consecutive years of poor academic performance results in restricted membership status for an institution. This means the school will not be considered a Division I college or university (NCAA, 2009a).

If an institution fails to report its APR then it cannot compete in NCAA post-season play for that year (NCAA, 2009a). These sanctions will be the first in NCAA history tied directly to student athletes' academic performance ("Poor-grade", 2007).

The APR is calculated as such: Each student athlete is worth two points a semester. If the athlete stays at the university then the sport gets one point for the athlete. If the athlete is eligible at the end of the term then the university gets one point for the athlete. So if a student athlete stays at an institution and is academically eligible then the

sport gets two points. An 0-for-2 student-athlete is one who is neither academically eligible nor remains with the institution. An 0-for-2 player might be one who transfers, leaves the institution for personal reasons or leaves to turn pro and would not have been academically eligible had he or she returned ("Explaining", 2005, p. 7c). Obviously, these are the types of situations the academic-reform structure is most meant to address since they are the most damaging to a team's APR.

While teams cannot always control the reasons student-athletes leave, the contemporaneous penalty holds them accountable for at least making sure student-athletes are academically eligible during their college tenures.

To illustrate the calculating procedure let us examine a college basketball team with 13 scholarships. The maximum amount of points that the team could earn is 52 (13 players multiplied by two points multiplied by two terms). If the team loses a total of four points, than the APR score drops to 923 (48/52=.923) ("Explaining", 2005). This number is then averaged over a six year period to develop the institution's APR for that year.

Not all student athletes are counted in the APR calculations. The process for a student athlete inclusion into the APR cohorts has changed since its inception. The current standards for student athletes to be included in the APR cohort are that they have received financial aid based on athletic ability and are enrolled full time as of the institution's fifth week or official census date, whichever is earlier (NCAA, 2007a). There are two exceptions to this rule. The first exception for student athletes not to be included into the cohort are those student athletes that have graduated and have exhausted their athletic eligibility even if they meet the before mentioned criteria. The second

exception involves student athletes that are enrolled beyond five years or ten semesters of full-time enrollment. These student athletes are not included in the APR calculations (NCAA, 2007a). If an institution does not offer financial aid based on athletic ability, such as institutions that compete in the Ivy League or Patriot League, then the APR cohort is comprised of only recruited student athletes who are listed on the team's roster on the first date of competition and those student athletes that have exhausted eligibility and returned to the institution for a fifth-year to complete their baccalaureate degree (NCAA, 2007a). A recruited student athlete as defined by the NCAA is a prospective student athlete that was (a) provided an official visit; or (b) a coach arranged an off-campus encounter with the prospect or legal guardians; or (c) a coach initiated telephone contact with the prospect or legal guardian on more than one occasion; (d) or a prospect that was issued a National Letter of Intent (NCAA, 2009a).

Sports can also earn APR points for student athletes who leave the institution without graduating and later return to the institution and graduate. The point is awarded to the team's APR in the academic year the former student graduates (NCAA, 2007a). This is commonly referred to as a bonus point. A bonus point can be very beneficial to a team in that the point only goes in the numerator in the calculation (1/0). In some cases this can have a significant impact on a team's overall APR score for a single year.

The 2009 APR results indicated that the legislation was improving graduation rates. The APR for all Division I athletics was up three points from the previous year and showed that the number of student athletes earning an "0-2" was on the decline (Hosick, 2009). However two teams were also assessed postseason bans; Centenary's men's basketball team and Tennessee-Chattanooga's football team (Schad, 2009). In addition to

having the first post season bans, 2009 also saw the first BCS schools lose scholarships for having low APR scores. The University of Mississippi and the University of Minnesota both lost scholarships. The University of Mississippi attributed the low APR score to a change in the head coach, which in-turn caused a number of players to transfer from the University of Mississippi (Schad, 2009).

One of the main reasons for the increase in the overall APR average was an increase in the APR retention points. The 2009 results saw an increase of nearly six points for all NCAA institutions (Hosick, 2009).

Since the APR Legislation is relatively new there are only a limited number of studies pertaining to it. Christy, Seifried and Pastore (2008), surveyed athletic directors, senior women administrators, faculty athletic representatives and head coaches about the impact the APR would have. After the data were analyzed, 64% of the participants felt that the APR would have a positive impact on college athletics and 32% felt that the APR legislation would have little or no impact on college athletics. They were only able to get one response from a football coach, which limits the understanding of the perception of football coaches.

Another study analyzed the retention of student athletes. Le Crom, Warren, Clark, Marolla and Gerber (2009), found among student athletes that competed from 2001-2005 at eight different schools that 7.3% of student athletes were not retained the following year.

"A summary of the overall findings indicated; a) scholarship support alone was not significantly related to retention; b) gender was a significant predictor of retention with female student athletes having higher rates of retention than their male counterparts; c) sport type was a significant predictor of retention with individual sport student athletes having higher rates of retention than team sport student athletes; d) scholarship support, gender and sport type were all significant predictors of retention" (Le Crom et al., 2009, p. 20).

In their conclusion Le Crom et. al (2009) also discussed how it is harder to retain student athletes that compete in revenue generating team sports because students dream of playing professional sports and in some cases there is an extensive amount of money to be made by those who can make a living as a professional athlete in addition to heightened media attention, fame and glamour. While this is the case, the APR does provide an exemption for student athletes that sign a professional contract (Dawn Martinez, personal communication, March 10, 2008).

Another recent study regarding the APR was conducted to analyze the advantage the BCS has over non-BCS schools in the APR. Bouchet and Scott (2009), looked at the penalized versus non-penalized schools under the APR legislation. Their results indicated that non-BCS schools were penalized more than BCS schools over a three year period.

The purpose of this chapter was to review the current literature associated with intercollegiate athletics and its role in higher education. It was intended provide information regarding the APR and the issues and events that led to its inception.

Chapter 2 was subdivided into the following areas: (1) The Impact of Athletics in Higher

Education; (2) Student Academic Performance; (3) NCAA Legislation to Improve on Student Athlete Graduation Rates; and (4) The NCAA Academic Progress Rating (APR).

CHAPTER III - METHODOLOGY

In order to obtain the data for this study, the use of human subjects was necessary. This required the review and approval of the University of New Mexico (UNM) human subjects Institutional Review Board (IRB). The research protocol, instrument, informed consent, and departmental approval were submitted to the UNM IRB. That approval was granted.

The purpose of this study was to examine the impact that the APR has had on NCAA college football programs. Specifically, this study focused on assessing directors of football operations' (DFOs) and coaches that serve in a DFO capacity, responses to questions regarding the issues of contention by football coaches and DFOs that lie within the APR legislation and how this legislation has changed their recruiting and retention strategies. Additionally, this study analyzed the change in resources dedicated to academic advising of college football players before and after the APR legislation was enacted.

This study assessed differences in recruiting strategies between BCS conference schools and non-BCS conference schools due to the APR; the differences in recruiting strategies among college football programs due to the APR; changes in retention strategies for all Division I football programs due to the APR; and differences in the amount of resources that institutions dedicate to the athletic department for academic efforts before the APR was implemented to after the APR was implemented.

A questionnaire was developed for use in this study and was administered to DFOs or the corresponding coach that serves in that capacity at NCAA Division I Institutions. The questionnaire was used to obtain all of the data for this study.

The data for this study were gathered during February and March of 2010. The study population consisted of DFOs or coaches that currently hold such positions at NCAA Division I institutions. Upon completion of the instrument by the DFO or coach, the researcher collected the instrument, and entered the data into the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) software package version 15 for analysis.

Census

The researcher included the entire population of active DFOs and coaches that act in that capacity at NCAA Division I institutions, for this study. Not all Division I institutions have DFOs so where there is no DFO, a coach is generally assigned those responsibilities in addition to their regular coaching duties. In order to accomplish this, contact information from the 2009 American Football Coaches Association Directory was used. The directory has addresses and contact names for all 234 Division I institutions. The researcher is a part of this organization and therefore has access and authorization to use this resource. Additionally, permission was received from the DFO National Committee to ensure that there were no objections to using this information to conduct the study.

Research Instrument

The questionnaire (Appendix A) was developed specifically for this study and contained four sections. Items for the survey were developed by the researcher after discussing the APR legislation with various coaches, NCAA compliance officers, and college athletic administrators. In addition, these items were also examined by graduate students in a sports administration program and their feedback was used.

The first section of the survey included an explanation of the study, a subsection for obtaining the participant's informed consent, and directions for the survey. The second section gathered information regarding certain demographic characteristics of the population. The information gathered in the second section included:

- Age range
- Gender
- Level of education
- Race/ethnicity: Which followed the categories used by the U.S. census
- How long the individual worked in college football
- How long the individual has been in their current position
- Type of college or university in regards to BCS, non-BCS and/or HBCU
- Conference affiliation

Some of the data gathered in this section were used to describe the study response group. Race categories followed the ethnic categories used by the U.S. Census Bureau. Age range categories were ten years apart with the exception of the first category. It is believed that there could only be a handful of DFOs in this category. Age range, length of time in college football, length of time in current position, school type, and conference affiliation were requested to provide independent variables for comparison of data, in order to answer the research questions in this study.

The third section of the instrument contained questions regarding the discipline strategies of the program after the inception of the APR legislation. Using responses from a seven point Likert type scale, which ranged from *extremely less likely* to *extremely more likely*, subjects were asked five general questions on the retention of players with

discipline/behavioral problems. In addition to the seven points on the Likert type scale, a "Don't Know" response was an option. In addition to the Likert type scale questions there were several questions regarding transfers coming into the program and leaving the program, the graduation of student athletes, and the dedication of resources to academics by the program and the athletic department. These questions had pre-determined responses from which to choose.

The fourth section of the survey had questions that dealt with recruiting strategy changes due to APR legislation that was passed by the NCAA. These four questions were also administered using a seven point Likert type scale which again ranged from extremely less likely to extremely more likely. Also included in the Likert type scale was a "Don't Know" option. In addition to the questions using the Likert type scale, there was one yes or no question regarding changes in the overall recruiting strategy of the program.

In order to establish content validity and construct validity for this instrument, the following measures were taken:

- A pilot study of the instrument for feedback and psychometric evaluation was conducted.
- Questions were reviewed by a panel of experts including:
 - Three professors of Sports Management Program at the University of New Mexico.
 - A Faculty Athletic Representative, and former member of the NCAA
 Research Committee.

The panel of experts was asked to review the survey and give an evaluation of the sections validity. This included:

- Understanding the question, wording, terminology, meaning and clarity.
- The extent to which the questions were relevant to the study's purpose.

The panel asked the researcher to include a "Don't Know" answer to all of the Likert type questions. The researcher accepted the changes and adjusted the survey. A sample of the survey can be found in Appendix A. A seven point scale was utilized to widen the range of scores in an attempt to maximize the potential of finding relationships between the variables (Gay, Mills & Airasian, 2006).

Pilot Study

To further enhance the validity of the survey instrument, a pilot study was performed in accordance with the UNM IRB guidelines. The survey instrument, cover letter and follow-up questions were in the IRB's consideration for approval.

The survey instruments were distributed to football coaches at a NCAA Division I institution. The coaches were asked to read the cover letter and complete the survey, then provide feedback regarding wording and content of the instrument after it was completed. The following questions were utilized:

- Are the questions in the survey easy to understand?
- Do the questions in the survey use appropriate terminology?
- Do you feel like there are any questions that need to be asked that are not included in the survey?
- Do you feel like there are any questions that are inappropriate?
- Do you feel like any questions contain material that is too sensitive?

After the pilot data and the results of the follow-up questions were collected, the data were analyzed utilizing descriptive statistics. The follow-up questions were analyzed

for clarity and terminology within the instrument. The following adjustments to the instrument were made based of the responses to the follow-up questions:

- A "No Change" was added to all of the Likert Type Questions
- Changed the term "Special Admit" to Special Admittance.

The DFO that was included in the pilot was excluded in the overall study results.

Procedures

The final version of the survey instrument was distributed to NCAA Division I DFOs and coaches during February of 2010. Utilizing the 2009 American Football Coaches Association Directory, the instruments were mailed to all 234 NCAA Division I institutions and addressed to the DFO. A description and purpose of the study was included in the cover letter. Also included in the mailing was a statement of confidentiality and consent form, contact information, and specific directions for the instrument and for the subject upon completion of the survey. An example of the letter can be found in Appendix B.

Upon completion of the instrument, the respondant was instructed to enclose the survey in the provided blank envelope. The blank envelope was then to be placed into the self addressed stamped envelope and mailed back to the researcher.

Once the researcher received the envelope, he opened the self addressed envelope and removed the unidentifiable envelope from the return packet. The self addressed envelope was then shredded. The unidentifiable envelope remained sealed until four weeks had passed from the initial mailing of the survey or all 234 responses were collected. This aided in the anonymity of responses.

In order to increase the likelihood of responses, the researcher sent out reminder cards one week, and two weeks after the initial mailing. The reminder cards asked the DFO or coach to complete the survey and return it in a timely manner.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS version 15. The researcher entered the data four weeks after the initial mailing. All analyses were made with a pre-set alpha level of .05. In order to have a 95% confidence level the study needed 140 of the 234 subjects to respond in order to avoid sampling bias (Gay et al., 2006).

To answer research question one, ("Is there a difference in recruiting strategies among college football programs due to the APR?"), descriptive statistics were employed utilizing question numbers one through five in section three of the survey. Each of the questions were analyzed separately to see if there was an overall change in any portion of recruiting strategies among college football programs.

Sub-questions R_{1A}: and R_{1B} were analyzed utilizing *t*-tests to determine if there was a difference in recruiting strategies between BCS schools and non-BCS/HBCUs.

The independent variables were taken from section one, questions six and seven, and included if the school belonged to Football Championship Series (FCS) or a Football Bowl Series (FBS). In addition, respondents were asked to indicate if they belonged to a BCS conference or were an HBCU. These two factors were compared to questions one through five of section three. Each of the questions in section three were analyzed separately.

For the analysis of sub-question R_{1C} , ("Is there a difference in recruiting strategies in reference to the number of years working in college football and the APR?"), four 2 X

4 factoral analysis of variance (FANOVA) were conducted. The factors included conference and school type in addition to the number of years working in college football and were compared with questions one through four in section three.

Four 2 X 4 FANOVA were also used to analyze sub question R_{1D}, ("Is there a difference in recruiting strategies in reference to the number of years working in an individual's current position and the APR?"). The comparison factors included conference the schools belong to, BCS or non-BCS, and school type, HBCU or non-HBCU, in addition to the number of years the DFO has been working in their current position or in college football and were compared with questions one through four in section three.

The second research question, R₂, was analyzed utilizing the same methods as research question one. The main research question, ("Is there a difference in retention strategies among college football programs due to the APR?"), was answered utilizing descriptive statistics from question one in section two.

Research question R_{2A} , ("Is there a difference in retention strategies between BCS conference schools and non-BCS conference schools due to the APR?"), was analyzed through t-tests. Question numbers six and seven served as the independent variable and were compared with questions one through five of section two of the survey.

Research question R_{2B} , ("Is there a difference in retention strategies between BCS conference schools and HBCU schools due to the APR?"), followed the same procedure as research question R_{2A} . This time however, HBCUs were compared as indicated in question six of section one in the survey and were compared with questions one through five of section two of the survey.

For the analysis of sub-question R_{2C}, ("Is there a difference in retention strategies in reference to the number of years working in college football and the APR?"), five two by four FANOVA were conducted. The factors included conference and school type in addition to the number of years working in college football as derived from the first section.

Five two by four FANOVA were used to analyze sub question R_{2D} :, ("Is there a difference in retention strategies in reference to the number of years working in an individual's current position and the APR?"). The factors included conference and school type in addition to the number of years working in their current position from section one of the survey and compared with questions one through five in section two.

Research question R₃:, ("Is there a difference in the amount of resources that institutions dedicated to the athletic departments for academic efforts before the APR was implemented to after the APR was implemented?"), was answered through the use of descriptive statistics taken from questions eight and nine in section two of the instrument.

Research question R₄, ("Are programs getting the same number of transfers entering into the program as are leaving?"), was answered utilizing descriptive statistics from question six in section two of the survey.

CHAPTER IV - RESULTS

An attempt was made to include the entire population of active DFOs and coaches that serve in that capacity at NCAA Division I football programs. Not all Division I football programs have DFOs so in programs where no one is specifically designated as a DFO, an assistant coach is generally assigned those responsibilities in addition to their regular coaching duties. The DFO that was included in the pilot was excluded in the overall study results.

A total of 234 surveys were sent out to DFOs and coaches, 103 were returned. This resulted in a response rate of 44%. All of the returned instruments were used in the study. However, some respondents did not complete all of the items. When an item was not completed, the item was excluded from the analysis for that question.

The first section of the instrument provided the respondent with the details and purpose of the study. The second section of the instrument gathered demographic information about the subjects and provided some of the independent variables that were utilized when analyzing the questions for this study. Of the 103 DFOs and coaches that completed the survey, 92 (89.3%) were white, seven (6.8%) where black or African American, three (2.9%) indicated that they were two or more races and one (one percent) was Native American. There were 61 (59.2%) responses that indicated they possess a graduate degree and 39 (37.9%) possess a bachelor's degree. In terms of age, 34 (33%) were aged from 25-34 years old, 26 (25.2%) were 35-44 years old, and 29 (28.2%) were aged from 45-54 years old.

Of the responses, 40 (38.8%) have spent at least 15 years working in college football. An additional 15 (14.6%) have worked in college football for 11-15 years, while

28 (27.2%) have been in the business for 5-10 years. Twenty (19.4%) of the subjects reported they have been working in college football for four years or less. When looking at how long the subjects have been working in their current position, 34 (33%) have been in their current job two years or less. Thirty three (32%) of the DFOs have been working in the same place for three to five years. Additionally, 15 (14.6%) of the DFOs have been in the same position for six to ten years and 15 (14.6%) have been in the same position for ten plus years. Table 4-1 displays the demographic information for the DFOs/coaches that responded to the survey.

Table 4-1

DFO and Coach Demographic Information

Ethnicity	Education	Yrs in Football	Yrs in Position
White 89.3%	Bachelors 37.9%	4 Yrs of less 19.4%	2 Yrs of less 33%
Black 6.8%	Graduate 59.2%	5-10 Yrs 27.2%	3-5 Yrs 32%
Native American 1%	Other 2.9%	11-15 Yrs 14.6%	6-10 Yrs 14.6%
Two or More Races 2.9%	ó	15+ Yrs 38.8%	10+ Yrs 14.6%
			9

Note. "Other" under the education response included either a high school diploma response or another response from the survey.

The responses to the survey by the conference that the institution competes with in football varied substantially. There was only one conference that did not have any survey

responses, the Southwest Athletic Conference. Seven respondents failed to indicate a conference affiliation. It could be that these were programs that competed as independents or the subjects were concerned that listing a conference would cause them to be identified as participants in the study. Table 4-2 shows the breakdown of responses to the survey by conference.

Table 4-2
Survey Response by Conference

Conference	Responses	
Atlantic Coastal Conference (ACC)*	6	
Southern Conference	5	
Big XII Conference*	4	
Big South Conference	4	
Conference USA	9	
Patriot League	5	
Big East Conference*	1,	
Northeast Conference	3	
Colonial Athletic Association	6	
Mid-American Conference (MAC)	6	
Pioneer League	4	

Table 4-2 (continued).

Conference	Responses	
Missouri Valley Conference	4	
Southeastern Conference (SEC)*	6	
Sun Belt Conference	2	
Southland Conference	3	
Pacific Ten Conference (Pac-10)*	6	
Mountain West Conference	5	
Big Sky Conference	3	
Big Ten Conference*	5	
Ohio Valley Conference	2	
Independent	1	
Western Athletic Conference (WAC)	2	
Great West Conference	1	
The Ivy League	2	
Mid-Eastern Athletic Conference	1	

Note. There were seven responses that did not indicate a conference or that they competed as an independent. There were no responses from institutions that participate in the Southwest Athletic Conference. *Denotes BCS automatic bid conferences

In terms of the breakdown between Football Championship Series (FCS) and Football Bowl Series (FBS), there were 59 responses from FBS schools and 44 responses from FCS schools. There were 28 responses from BCS schools or schools that compete in conferences that receive automatic bids to BCS bowls and 75 responses from non-BCS schools. There was only one response that indicated that they were from a HBCU. Because of this, research questions R_{1B}: ("Is there a difference in recruiting strategies between BCS conference schools and HBCU schools due to the APR?) and R_{2B}: ("Is there a difference in retention strategies between BCS conference schools and HBCU schools due to the APR?"), were eliminated from the study.

Recruiting Strategy Results

Items in section four of the instrument dealt with the recruiting strategies of
Division I football programs and how they have changed since the APR legislation.

Since the goal of the APR is to increase student athletes' graduation rates, it would seem
that programs would be more apt to recruit prospects that would have an increased chance
of remaining eligible and graduate. According to the responses, 47 (45.6%) indicated that
their football programs changed their recruiting strategies due to the APR legislation.

When looking at each of the recruiting questions separately, there were some similarities.

Of the responses, 41 (39.8%) indicated that the APR has not changed their policy in
recruiting prospects that are potential discipline problems and 31 (30.1%) were only
slightly less likely to recruit players with potential discipline problems. Additionally, 19

(18.4%) of the respondents indicated that they were less likely to recruit prospects with potential discipline problems, while eight (7.8%) stated they were extremely less likely.

When analyzing whether programs are more or less likely to recruit prospects that are academically challenged, 31 (30.1%) indicated no change occurred due to the APR. Of the responses 44 (42.7%) showed that respondents were slightly less likely to recruit academically challenged prospects, while 15 (14.6%) were less likely. Only seven (6.8%) of respondents indicated that programs were extremely less likely to recruit academically challenged prospects.

Another indication of a football program's likelihood to recruit academically challenged prospects is the program's willingness to recruit special admittance students. The results of the survey indicate that 51 (49.5%) of respondents have not changed their recruiting policy for special admittance prospects. What we do not know is how many special admittance prospects that the programs took before the APR legislation.

However, 28 (27.2%) respondents indicated that they were slightly less likely to recruit a prospect that required special admittance to the institution. Fourteen (13.6%) of the responses indicated that they were less likely and five (4.9%) indicated that they were extremely less likely to recruit special admittance prospects.

In regards to recruiting junior college transfers, the results indicated that 57 (55.3%) of colleges have not changed their recruiting strategy due to the APR. Of the responses, 20 (19.4%) stated that they were slightly less likely to recruit prospects from junior colleges because of the APR, while 14 (13.6%) said they were less likely. There were five (4.9%) responses that indicated they were extremely less likely to recruit players from junior colleges due to the APR. There were a combined 6 (5.8%) responses

that indicated they were slightly more likely or more likely to recruit junior college prospects due to the APR.

When comparing the recruiting strategies between BCS and non-BCS schools to answer research question R_{1A}: ("Is there a difference in recruiting strategies between BCS conference schools and non-BCS conference schools due to the APR?"), the *t*-test results indicated that there were no significant differences in recruiting strategies among any of the factors. Table 4-3 shows the means and the standard deviations for each of the recruiting items listed in the survey. In addition to analyzing the data for differences between BCS and non-BCS programs, the researcher also processed the data to see if there were any differences between FCS and FBS programs. The results indicated that there were no significant differences in recruiting strategy changes due to the APR between FCS and FBS football programs.

Table 4-3

Recruiting Strategy Changes Between BCS and non-BCS Schools

Recruiting Question		BCS	Non-BCS
Change in Recruiting Strategy	Mean	.50	.44
	Std. Deviation	.509	.500
Recruiting from Junior Colleges	Mean	3.50	3.52
	Std. Deviation	.839	1.212

Table 4-3(continued)

Recruiting Question		BCS	Non-BCS
Recruiting Special Admittances	Mean	3.43	3.40
	Std. Deviation	.790	1.174
Recruiting Academically Challer	nged Mean	3.18	3.20
	Std. Deviation	.863	1.208
Recruiting Discipline Problems	Mean	3.21	3.16
	Std. Deviation	1.031	1.151

Research question, R_{IC}: ("Is there a difference in recruiting strategies in reference to the number of years working in college football and the APR?"), was analyzed using a 2 X 4 FANOVA. The results of the analysis indicated no significant difference when comparing the years that a DFO/coach has worked college football and conference classification to the recruiting questions. Table 4-4 shows the *F*-value along with the significance for each of the questions included in the survey.

Table 4-4

Differences in Recruiting Strategy Compared to BCS and Years in College Football

Recruiting Question	F	p
Change in Recruiting Strategy	.558	.788
Recruiting from Junior Colleges	.622	.737
Recruiting Special Admittances	.939	.480
Recruiting Academically Challenged	.681	.687
Recruiting Discipline Problems	.399	.900

Note. p<.05

Research question R_{1D}: ("Is there a difference in recruiting strategies in reference to the number of years working in an individual's current position and the APR?"), also used a 2 X 4 FANOVA. This analysis also indicated that there was no significant difference between BCS and non-BCS programs with relation to how long the DFO/coach has been in their current position. Table 4-5 shows the *F*-value along with the significance for each of the questions included in the instrument.

Table 4-5

Differences in Recruiting Strategy Compared to BCS and Years in Current Position

Recruiting Question	F	p
Change in Recruiting Strategy	1.883	.064
Recruiting from Junior Colleges	.247	.986
Recruiting Special Admittances	.825	.595
Recruiting Academically Challenged	.893	.535
Recruiting Discipline Problems	1.922	.058

Note. p<.05

Retention Strategy Results

Section three of the instrument dealt with the retention strategies of Division I football programs. Athletic programs receive an APR point for student athletes that stay at the institution, thus making it extremely important for programs to keep the student athlete at the institution and on the roster. When analyzing the data regarding retention strategies of college football programs as it relates to the APR, 39 (37.9%) of the respondents said they did not change their strategy. When analyzing retetion strategies for student athletes that became discipline problems 22 (21.4%) and 22 (21.4%) said they were slightly more likely or were more likely to retain those student athletes. Six (5.8%)

of the respondents felt their football programs were extremely more likely to retain chronic discipline problems, while nine (8.7%) stated that they were slightly less likely to retain a chronic discipline problem.

A chronic discipline problem might be considered a student athlete that continuously has eligibility issues. Skipping class can lead to eligibility issues and is indicative of student athletes with discipline problems. Of the responses, 63 (61.1%) implied that they would be slightly more likely, were more likely or were extremely more likely to monitor class attendance due to the APR legislation. Additionally, 37 (35.9%) of respondents reported that there was no change in their football programs monitoring class attendance by their student athletes.

However, when analyzing if teams were more likely to retain student athletes that chronically missed classes, 42 (40.8%) reported that there was no change in their retention strategy. Of the responses, 17 (16.5%) felt their football programs were slightly more likely to retain a student athlete and 17 (16.5%) indicated they were more likely to retain an athlete that chronically missed classes. Only seven (6.8%) said they were extremely more likely to retain a student athlete that chronically skipped classes. The number of responses that were slightly less likely or less likely to retain a student athlete that was chronically skipping class was 17 (16.6%).

When dealing with a student athlete that was convicted of a misdemeanor, 62 (60.2%) of the respondents felt their football programs did not change their retention strategy as it relates to the APR. While ten (9.7%) of the respondents indicated that they were slightly more likely to retain a student athlete that was convicted of a misdemeanor

and eight (7.8%) were more likely to retain a student athlete that was convicted of a misdemeanor.

When changing the severity of the act from a misdemeanor to a felony, similar results were indicated. Of the responses, 61 (59.2%) indicated that there was no change in the retention strategy of the football program as it relates to the APR. Only six (5.8%) of the respondents indicated that they were slightly more, more, or extremely more likely to retain a student athlete that was convicted of a felony. Additionally, 18 (17.5%) of the respondents said they felt that their programs were extremely less likely to retain a student athlete that was convicted of a felony because of the APR.

When comparing the responses regarding retention strategies between BCS and non-BCS schools in order to answer R_{2A}: ("Is there a difference in retention strategies between BCS conference schools and non-BCS conference schools due to the APR?"), the *t*-test results indicated that there were no significant differences in the retention strategies of college football programs due to the APR, among any of the factors included in the instrument. Table 4-6 shows the means and the standard deviations for each of the recruiting questions listed in the survey. In addition to analyzing the data for differences between BCS and non-BCS programs, the researcher also analyzed the data to see if there were any differences between FCS and FBS programs. The results indicated that there were no significant differences in retention strategy changes due to the APR between FCS and FBS football programs.

Table 4-6

Retention Strategy Changes Between BCS and non-BCS Schools

Recruiting Question		BCS	Non-BCS
Retaining a Discipline Problem	Mean	4.75	4.81
	d. Deviation	1.110	1.353
Monitoring Class Attendance	Mean	5.25	5.35
Sto	d. Deviation	1.143	1.268
Retaining for Missing Class	Mean	4.43	4.57
Sto	d. Deviation	1.230	1.425
Retention after a Misdemeanor	Mean	4.11	4.08
Sto	d. Deviation	1.166	1.393
Retention after a felony	Mean	3.25	3.56
Sto	d. Deviation	1.295	1.638

Research question, R_{2C} : ("Is there a difference in retention strategies in reference to the number of years working in college football and the APR?"), was analyzed using a 2 X 4 FANOVA. The results of the analysis indicated no significant difference when comparing the years that a DFO/coach has worked in college football and conference

classification to the recruiting questions. Table 4-7 shows the F-value along with the significance for each of the questions included in the instrument.

Table 4-7

Differences in Retention Strategy Compared to BCS and Years in College Football

Recruiting Question	F	p
Retaining a Discipline Problem	.477	.847
Monitoring Class Attendance	.508	.827
Retaining for Missing Class	.622	.736
Retention after a Misdemeanor	.606	.750
Retention after a Felony	.627	.623

Note. p<.05

Research question R_{2D} : ("Is there a difference in retention strategies in reference to the number of years working in an individual's current position and the APR?"), also utilized a 2 X 4 FANOVA. This analysis for this research question also indicated that there was no significant difference between BCS and non-BCS programs with relation to how long the DFO/coach has been in their current position. Table 4-8 shows the F-value along with the significance for each of the questions included in the survey.

Table 4-8

Differences in Retention Strategy Compared to BCS and Years in Current Position

Recruiting Question	F	p
Retaining a Discipline Problem	1.403	.198
Monitoring Class Attendance	.271	.981
Retaining for Missing Class	1.281	.25
Retention after a Misdemeanor	1.170	.33
Retention after a Felony	1.376.	.10

Note. p<.05

Other Results

According to the results of this survey, the APR seems to be enhancing graduation rates in Division I football programs. Of the responses, 86 (83.5%) indicated that these football programs are graduating more student athletes. Ten respondents did not answer the question but in some cases disclosed no change in their graduation rates. This could be due to the amount of resources that programs and institutions are dedicating to academics because of the APR. Research question R₃: ("Is there a difference in the amount of resources that institutions dedicate to the athletic department for academic efforts before the APR was implemented to after the APR was implemented, due to the

APR?") addressed this issue. Responses indicated that 68 (66%) of the football programs and 78 (75.7%) of the athletic departments have increased either money or resources to their academic budgets because of the APR legislation.

The last research question of this survey was related to the retention component of the APR, R₄: ("Are programs getting the same number of transfers coming into the program as are leaving?"). The results indicated that 29 (28.2%) of the teams have more student athletes transferring out of the program to other institutions. While 34 (33%) of the teams reported the opposite, these programs had more student athletes transferring into their programs from other institutions. Additionally, 34 (33%) of the respondents reported their programs had an equal amount of transfers coming into the football program as were transferring out of the football program.

CHAPTER V – DISCUSSION

Survey Response

In order to have achieved a 95% confidence level, the study needed 140 of the 234 subjects, or roughly 60%, to respond to avoid sampling bias (Gay et al., 2006). The response rate for this study was 44%. While the higher the response rate the better, it is not clear how high a response rate needs to be when conducting a mail survey (Baruch, 1999). Mail surveys have seen a decline in response rate over the years (Baruch, 1999; Brennan & Charbonneau, 2009). There is no strategy for determining a response rating that involves a specific percentage of a limited population (Suter, 1998). When the response is lower it is the obligation of the researcher to completely report the possible sample bias and allow the reader to decide for themselves the impact it has had on the study (Gay et al., 2006). Baruch (1999), stated that a higher response rate does not always indicate whether or not sampling bias has occurred.

Previous studies on the APR yielded less than a 44% response rating from football coaches. Christy, Seifried and Pastore (2008), only had one football coach respond to their study regarding the impact that the APR might have on college athletics, thus, limiting their results and findings to sports other than football.

Football coaches and DFOs are a highly secretive population. This may stem from being in the public eye and being scrutinized by the media in a variety of ways. This scrutiny and the nature of the industry has led Division I college football coaches and DFOs to be reluctant in providing detailed information regarding their programs. Because of this, there may have been a fear by some DFOs or coaches that the information would not remain confidential, even though every precaution was taken by

the researcher. The one factor that possibly made the response rate as high as it was for this study is the fact that the researcher is considered to belong to this group, as he is a football operations assistant and has a large amount of contacts within the industry of NCAA college football.

One occurrence that was perplexing regarding the response rate was the lack of participation by HBCUs. Only one respondent indicated that their institution was classified as a HBCU. The two biggest opponents to the APR have been HBCUs and schools that do not compete in BCS Conferences (Christy et al., 2008). It would have seemed that HBCUs would have had a higher response rating than they did. The lack of response forced the researcher to remove R_{1B}, ("Is there a difference in recruiting strategies between BCS conference schools and HBCU schools due to the APR?"), and R_{2B}: ("Is there a difference in retention strategies between BCS conference schools and HBCU schools due to the APR?"), from the study. The researcher cannot account for any rationale for why HBCUs would not have responded or disclosed that the institution belonged in this classification.

Changes in Recruiting Strategy

With the APR legislation focused on assisting programs with graduating student athletes, it would only make sense that Division I college football programs would look to recruit more academically qualified student athletes and fewer student athletes that are potential discipline problems. What was of interest in the results was the number of football programs that did not change their recruiting strategy, 54.4%. However, 45.6% of Division I college football programs indicated that they changed their recruiting strategy. What is even more surprising is that more BCS football programs changed their

recruiting strategy than did non-BCS football programs. When analyzing overall recruiting strategies, 50% of BCS football programs changed their recruiting strategies while only 44% of non-BCS football programs changed their recruiting strategy due to the APR. What could have impacted the results are the Ivy League and Patriot League responses. There is a possibility that these programs already recruited academically qualified student athletes, thus they did not have to change their recruiting strategies.

There are other possibilities as to why football programs have not changed their recruiting strategies. One is that, some football programs were and are not in any danger of facing sanctions or have no problem in achieving and averaging a 925 APR score. If a program has not had any problems reaching the 925 APR score, then there is no reason for them to change their recruiting strategies. These programs are not faced with any sanctions nor are receiving any public scrutiny for their APR score.

Another possibility is not as flattering to colleges or their football programs.

There is always a possibility that some college football programs and/or compliance offices have found a loop hole in the APR legislation. The corruption in college athletics is well documented. To think that one or more of the football programs have not changed their recruiting strategies because they have found a loophole is very conceivable. When a new policy is implemented, change is expected. Often organizations are resistant to the change (Slack & Parent, 2006). The possibility that some college football programs are resistant to this change is without question. But when a policy change is implemented with penalties that could cripple a program, it would seem that the change would occur in greater amounts.

What is encouraging about the results in the changes of recruiting strategies by college football programs is that 56.3% of programs are slightly less, less, or extremely less likely to recruit student athletes that are potential discipline problems. This makes prospective student athletes that are entering college more accountable for their own actions, if they wish to participate in college football. Even more encouraging is the fact that programs are 64.1% slightly less, less, or extremely less likely to recruit academically challenged student athletes. In addition, the amount of special admittance student athletes being recruited should also be declining. Of the responses, 45.7% indicated they were slightly less, less or extremely less likely to recruit special admittance student athletes. Having more academically qualified student athletes should help increase the graduation rate of Division I college football players.

When recruiting junior college transfers, the results indicated that 55.3% of colleges have not changed their recruiting strategy due to the APR. While there were some football programs that indicated they were less likely to recruit from junior colleges, six percent indicated they were more likely to recruit from junior colleges. The thought behind this premise may be that students who are coming out of junior colleges are somewhat older and may have experienced more independence, thus making them more mature and focused on their academic endeavors. However, often Division I college football coaches recruit junior college players because they are a quick fix to personnel issues on the field. When a position on the field is a weakness, football coaches will recruit junior college players that can come in right away and start. These players are often brought in from junior colleges because they already have experienced playing

against tougher competition at the junior college level than in high school, thus making them more desirable to Division I college football coaches.

Changes in Retention Strategy

While there may be positive changes from the APR in regards to recruiting more disciplined and academically qualified student athletes, the opposite maybe true when it comes to retention and the APR. The results indicated there were no differences between BCS and non-BCS schools in retention strategies based on the APR. However, there were changes indicated by respondents among college football programs' retention strategies overall due to the APR. Of the responses, 42.8% felt their programs were slightly more or more likely to retain student athletes that have become discipline problems. Add in another 5.8% of responses that felt their programs were extremely more likely to retain a discipline problem and almost half the teams felt as though the APR forces them to keep student athletes on their teams even though those student athletes may not be abiding by team or institutional policies. What was interesting about these data was that nine percent of football programs responded that they were slightly less likely to retain these types of student athletes. It could be that these programs identify these discipline problems early in the student athletes career and remove these players from the team before they can become a bigger problem.

One of the most common forms of discipline problems that football teams face is having their student athletes attend classes. Class attendance can greatly affect a student athlete's ability to remain eligible by both NCAA and institutional standards. Of the responses, 39.8% stated that they were slightly more, more or extremely more likely to retain a student athlete that chronically skips class. Of interest in the results to this

question were the number of responses that stated they were slightly less likely or less likely to retain a student athlete that was a chronically skipping class, 16.6%. Again, what might be happening in these cases are programs identify discipline issues early in a student athlete's college career and remove the student athlete before a bigger problem occurs. Programs could be systematically calculating when is the best time to remove a student athlete from their program without being extensively penalized on their overall APR score.

When expanding the discipline issue beyond team or institutional policies, teams in large have not changed their retention strategies. Roughly 60% of college football DFOs indicated they have not changed retention strategies due to the APR legislation, when it comes to student athletes that have convicted misdemeanors or felonies. What is not known from this study is exactly what the football programs' strategies were before the APR legislation. The respnses indicated that 17.5% of football programs were slightly more likely or more likely to retain a student athlete that has convicted a misdemeanor. The question then arises, are these football programs being held hostage by the APR legislation to keep student athletes that are a distraction or detriment to the culture of the program? Often when these incidents occur, the media scrutiny and public outcry for the student athlete to be removed from the team can cost a head coach and staff members their jobs.

However, when raising the level of the crime that a student athlete was convicted of to a felony, only six percent of football programs said that they were slightly more, more or extremely more likely to retain a student athlete that was convicted of a felony.

While 17.5% of DFOs/coaches responded that their football programs were extremely

less likely to retain a student athlete that was convicted of a felony. This could be due to a couple of factors. One factor could be the public relations nightmare that a program takes when retaining a student athlete that has been convicted of a felony. Another consideration is that football programs could be considering that a student athlete who was convicted of a felony would have a hard time remaining eligible while going through this type of legal problem. College football programs might dismiss an eligible student athlete from the team before he becomes an ineligible student athlete thus only losing one APR point instead of having a "0-2" student athlete (the term used when an ineligible athletes leaves the institution), which in turn can jeopardize the team's total APR score. What we do not know however, is how this relates to the programs policy before the APR was implemented. We do not know if a student athlete that was convicted of a felony before the APR was implemented would have been retained or dismissed by the program.

With all of these programs indicating that they are in some way more likely to retain student athletes that have become a discipline problem, the question becomes if the APR mitigates the NCAA policy of a renewable scholarship? NCAA policy requires that scholarships are awarded on a renewable annual basis. If a program does not renew a student athlete's scholarship, the likelihood that the student athlete will remain at with the program or at the institution without a scholarship decreases significantly.

More Money and Resources Dedicated to Academics

The results of this study indicated that both college football programs and athletic departments as a whole have dedicated more money and resources to ensuring their student athletes have a chance to succeed academically. The results indicated 66% of

football programs and 75.7% of athletic departments, respectfully, have increased either money or resources to their academic budgets because of the APR legislation. This shows that college football programs, athletic departments, and institutions are taking the NCAA's APR legislation seriously.

One area where more monies and resources are being dedicated to in terms of academics is the monitoring of class attendance by student athletes. Responses showed that 61.1% of teams implied that they were slightly more likely, were more likely, or were extremely more likely to monitor class attendance due to the APR legislation. What we don't know from this study is to what extent football programs are monitoring classes. Are football programs monitoring more classes, in terms of all their student athletes or are they monitoring more of the academically challenged or special needs student athletes' class attendance? Have college football programs changed their standards in which they require student athletes to be monitored? For instance, if a student athlete with a 2.35 grade point average was not being monitored before, is he being monitored now due to the APR legislation?

Another way athletic departments may be dedicating more money and resources to academics is with athletic department academic centers. Many athletic departments have built or are building elaborate buildings to house their academic sections. These academic centers are where only student athletes can go to meet with advisors, tutors and learning specialists in state of the art computer labs. However, one must consider that academic success has not been shown to necessarily benefit from more money (Bouchet & Scott, 2009).

The Athletic Arms Race

With all of the money being spent on student athletes' academic pursuits, there are some that believe this spending is just an extension of the athletic financial arms race that the Knight Commission is trying to stop among college athletic departments. Some institutions have paid millions of dollars to build these success centers, not only to improve student athletes' probability of succeeding academically, but also to attract and sign top level prospects to their athletic programs. The "arms race" may have gone from building extensive stadiums and extravagant training facilities to lure top prospects to building elaborate academic centers in hopes of convincing prospects and their parents that the institution is committed to providing a top level education to the student.

Because of the recruiting benefits, any institution that has not built an athletic academic center is going to be at a severe disadvantage in recruiting top level prospects to their athletic programs.

Increased Graduation Rates

There is a strong possibility that increased spending on academics, in addition to the development of the APR legislation, is benefiting student athletes' ability to graduate. The hiring of more tutors and learning specialists does benefit schools (Bouchet & Scott, 2009). The results of this study indicated that 83.5% of respondents feel they have graduated more student athletes since the inception of the APR. The question then becomes whether or not impeding the athletic arms race is more beneficial to the overall goals of higher education and the critics of big-time college athletics.

The results of this study may be reflected in the graduation rates and improved APR scores reported by the NCAA. However, while dramatic increases were noted in

both baseball and men's basketball, football APR rates continue to be a concern.

Currently, eligibility rate increases in football are not following eligibility improvements in most other sports (Christianson, 2009).

Transfers

One of the main issues of contention among college football coaches in regards to the APR retention point is that of transfers. A program that loses a student athlete that transfers to another institution can cost a program a retention point, even though the student athlete may graduate on time from the new institution. The NCAA has made adjustments in the APR legislation since its inception regarding transfers. These adjustments have resulted in a retention point increase among programs, and can be attributed to an adjustment in the APR calculation that allows student athletes earning a 2.6 grade point average and meeting other academic requirements to transfer without programs losing the retention point (Christianson, 2009). It was initially thought by the NCAA that athletic programs gain as many transfers as they lose (NCAA, 2007a). The results from this study indicated that only 33% of football programs transfer in as many student athletes as transfer out. 28.2% of football programs stated that they have more student athletes transferring out of their program than into the program. Whether or not these student athletes met the requirements for the exception is beyond the scope of this study.

Recommendations For Future Studies

The need for future studies on the APR and its impact on athletic programs is clear. This study focused on the impact the APR legislation has had on college football recruiting and retention strategies. There is a need to analyze the impact that the APR

legislation has had on other intercollegiate athletic sports. There is a possibility that other sports have not felt the same impact from the APR legislation that football has. It is conceivable that other intercollegiate sports have felt the impact of the APR more heavily, since they typically have smaller rosters, thus each point has a greater impact on the programs' APR score. Future studies could compare the impact of the APR legislation from sport to sport. There is a possibility that APR legislation needs to have more exceptions from one sport to another.

It is recommended that future studies addressing the APR and football should focus on the following questions:

- Since there was no finding upon contrast, it is possible that the utilization of the Likert type scale inherently restricted the range of scores. Future research could use a different type of scale to analyze for contrast to see if there is a difference.
- How many football programs monitored classroom attendance before the APR was enacted to after the APR implemented?
- What are the standards for monitoring class attendance now that the APR has been implemented?
- Have college football programs required more study hall hours by their student athletes and what were the standards for requiring study hall before the APR was implemented and what are the standards now?
- What percentage of college football transfers is meeting the 2.6 grade point average exception requirement?

Another factor that needs to be incorporated in future studies is a player's on the field ability. A student athlete that contributes more to the team on the field is going to be retained longer than a student athlete that has a limited role with the team. Likewise, a prospect that a football program feels can contribute a lot to a team is more likely to be recruited regardless of discipline or academic potential than one who might be considered marginal. Incorporating playing ability into a study could prove difficult in terms of college football programs willingness to participate in the study.

Finally, there needs to be research exploring the lack of minorities serving in a DFOs capacity. With 89.3% of respondents self reporting their race as white/Caucasian, and only 10.7% being of a minority descent, the need for exploring this issue is neccassary. The NCAA has faced public and private scrutiny for the lack of minority head coaches in Division I FBS college football. The lack of minorities serving as DFOs is as equally troubling and intriguing.

Conclusion

Overall the results of this study have shown that the NCAA's APR legislation has made college football programs rethink their recruiting and retention strategies. The APR has made Division I programs attempt to recruit more academically qualified prospects that have a decreased risk of becoming discipline problems. This may have resulted in the improved graduation rates of their programs. However, there has been a price for this victory. Football programs also have been forced to retain discipline problems on their rosters. Having a number of discipline problems on a team can effect the culture of the program and inturn the programs overall athletic success. It is the opinion of this researcher that there needs to be some type of exception for the APR retention point

when student athletes become conunter productive to the university's and program's mission.

Appendix A

APR Survey

University of New Mexico APR Survey

Section I – Purpose

You are invited to participate in a research study conducted by Joshua Castle, (Football Operations Assistant at the University of New Mexico (UNM) and AFCA Member) and the Sports Administration Program at the UNM. The results of this study will contribute to the formulation of a doctoral dissertation and expand the body of research regarding the NCAA's attempt to improve on the academic performance of student athletes.

The purpose of this study is to examine the impact that the APR has had on NCAA college football coaches through a quantitative method. Specifically this study will focus on the issues of contention by coaches within the APR legislation and how this legislation has changed recruiting and retention strategies.

There is no risk of harm to you. The length of time required for the completion of this survey is about five (5) minutes. Your participation in this study is completely voluntary and the results of individual surveys will be confidential. You may withdraw from this survey at any time with no penalty to you. This survey collects no personal identifying data. Respondents will remain completely anonymous.

Section II - Your Demographic Information

1. What is your	age range?	
A. 18-24	B. 25-34	C. 35-44 D. 45-54 E. 55-64
F. 65 +		
2. What is your	highest level of	education?
	1.	High School Graduate
	2.	Some College
	3.	Bachelors' Degree
	4.	Graduate Degree
	5.	Other
3. What is your	race/ethnicity?	
A. American I	ndian and Alask	ka NativeB. Black or African American
C. White	D. Asianl	E. Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander
F. Other	G. Hispanic/L	atinoH. Two or more races

A. 4 years 5. How los	or less _ ng have y	ou worked in co B. 5-10 ye ou been in your B. 3-5 ye a	ears(C. 11-15 years_ sition?	D. +15	Years	
6. What ty A. Footba B. Footba C. BCS C D. Non-B E. Histori	pe of coll Il Bowl S Il Champ onferenc CS Confe cally Bla	ege or universion Subdivision Dionship Subdi e erence ck College or U	ty do you w vision	vork at? (Checl			
7. Please l	ist your c	onference affilia	ation			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		Section	ı III – Cha	nges in Retent	ion		
team has	changed	ins questions tl due to the APR number that bes	t.			ee retention for	· your
		Slightly Less Likely 3		Slightly More Likely 5		Extremely More Likely 7	Don't Know 8
1. Since the incephas become a disc			ır organiza	tion been more	or less likely	to retain a play	er who
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
2. Since the incepattendance by you		50	ur organiza	tion been more	or less likely	to monitor clas	SS
1			4	5	6	7	8
3. Since the incepthat chronically m			r organizat	ion been more	or less likely	to retain a stude	ent athlete
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
4. Since the incepthat is convicted of			r organizat	ion been more	or less likely	to retain a stude	ent athlete
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8

5. Since the ince that is convicted	T 0000 10 10		ur organiza	tion been more	or less likely	to retain a stud	ent athlete
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
	A. More B. More C. Have	student athletes student athletes	s transfer ou s transfer in umber of st	ıt of your prog to your prograi	ram than trans n than transfe	sfer into your pr er out of your pr our program as l	ogram.
7. Since the ince One)	ption of tl	ne APR, has yo	 .	tion graduated ore Less	more or less	student athletes	? (Circle
8. Since the ince	eption of t	he APR has yo	ur program	(football) dedi	cated more m	oney or resourc	es to
academics?			Ye	es No			
9. Since the ince academics?	eption of t	he APR has yo	ur athletic o	lepartment ded	icated more n	noney or resour	ces to
deddennes.			Y	es No			
		Sectio	n IV – Cha	nges in Recru	iting		
team ha	s changed	ains questions I due to the AP number that be	R.			see retention for	r your
Extremely Less Likely 1	Less Likely 2	Slightly Less Likely 3	No Change 4	Slightly More Likely 5	More Likely 6	Extremely More Likely 7	Don't Know 8
1. Since the ince		the same of the sa	our program	been more or	less likely to	recruit a player	who is
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
2. Since the ince		he APR, has yo	our program	been more or	less likely to	recruit an acade	mically
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
3. Since the ince		ADD 1		Tananana manananana manana	1.1 1		e ser
		ne APK, has yo	ur program	been more or l	ess likely to r	ecruit special a	dmittance
student athletes?		ne APR, has yo	ur program 4	5	ess likely to r	ecruit special a	dmittance

4. Since the	inception of	f the APR, h	as your progr	am been more	e or less likely	to recruit pro	spective student
athletes from	n junior coll	leges?					
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
5. Since the	inception o	f the APR, h	as your progr	am changed i	ts recruiting s	trategy? (Circ	le One)
	-			Yes	No		

Thank you for your participation in this survey. If you have any questions or concerns about this questionnaire, please feel free to contact Joshua Castle. Mr. Castle can be reached at (505) 925-5708 and he can also be reached at the University of New Mexico Football Offices, University of New Mexico.

Appendix B

Introduction Letter to the DFO

Director of Football Operations Football Offices University of XXXXX, XX 00000

February, 2010

Dear Colleague:

My name is Joshua Castle and I am currently the football operations assistant at the University of New Mexico (UNM). I am also in the process of finishing my Ph.D in sports administration at UNM. For my doctorial dissertation I have chosen to study the impact of the Academic Progress Rating (APR) on college football recruiting and retention. As you are aware, this is a subject that impacts us all and there are points of debate within the legislation. It is my hope that some of these points will be addressed in the results of this study.

Enclosed you will find the survey, a letter of informed consent, a blank envelope, and a self-addressed envelope. The survey is completely anonymous and will only take roughly five minutes to fill out. Please fill out the survey and upon completion, place it in the blank envelope. Then place the blank envelope in the self-addressed envelope to be mailed back to me.

Participation is strictly voluntary and you may quit the survey at anytime. This study and survey have been approved by UNM's Institutional Review Board for Research. The survey has been sent to every NCAA Division I football program. In order for the results to be valid, I need at least a 60% response rating. Please help me by taking a few minutes of your time and completing the survey. The results from this study will be used in the formation of my doctorial dissertation and possibly a journal article. This study has the support of the AFCA Directors of Football Operations National Committee. The results will also be made available at the 2011 AFCA Convention-DFO General Assembly.

After reviewing this letter and the survey, if you have any questions please feel free to contact me directly at 724-464-7126 or at 505-925-5708. You can also contact Gavin Bevis, Director of Football Operations at UNM. I have Coach Bevis's full support in this study. Thank you for your time and consideration. I eagerly await your response.

Sincerely,

Joshua Castle

Football Operations Assistant

Sports Administration Doctoral Candidate

University of New Mexico

REFERENCE:

- Absher, K & Crawford, G. (1996). Marketing the community college starts with understanding students' perspectives. *Community College Review*. 23(4), 59.
- Adler, P. & Adler, P. (1985). From idealism to pragmatic detachment: The academic performance of college athletes. *Sociology of Education*. 58, 241-250.
- Allen, B. & Peters, J. (1982). The influence of a winning basketball program upon undergraduate student enrollment decisions at DePaul University. In Etzel, M. & Gastki, J. (Eds.), *Applying marketing technology to spectator sports*. Notre Dame, IN. 136-148.
- Baade, R. & Sundberg, J. (1996). Fourth down and gold to go? Assessing the link between athletics and alumni giving. *Social Science Quarterly*. 77.
- Barnes, J. (2004). High school counselors' knowledge and perceptions of fairness and satisfaction of NCAA Division I freshman eligibility requirements. (Doctoral dissertation, University of New Mexico, 2004).
- Baruch, Y. (1999). Response rate in academic studies-a comparative study. *Human Relations*. 52(4), 421-438.
- Beamon, K. & Bell, P. (2006). Academics versus athletics: An examination of the effects of background and socialization on African American male student athletes. *The Social Science Journal*. 43(3), 393-403.
- Bergmann, B. (1991). Do sports really make money for the university? *Academe*. 77, 28-30.

- Beyer, J. & Hannah, D. (2000). The cultural significance of athletics in U.S. higher education. *Journal of Sport Management*. 14, 105-132.
- Blackman, P. (2008). The NCAA's academic performance program: Academic reform or academic racism? *UCLA Entertainment Law Review*. 15(2), 225-289.
- Borland, M., Goff, B., & Pulsinelli, R. (1992). College athletics: Financial burden or boon? In G. Scully (Ed.), *Advances in the Economics of Sport*. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Bouchet, A. & Scott, M. (2009). Do BCS schools have an advantage over non-BCS schools in APR rankings? An early examination. *Sport Journal*. 12(4), 5.
- Bowl Championship Series. (2009). BCS Selection Procedures. Retrieved October 15, 2009 from http://www.bcsfootball.org/bcsfb/eligibility
- Bremmer, D. & Kesselring, R. (1993). The advertising effect of university athletic success: A reappraisal of the evidence. *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*. 33(4), 409-421.
- Brennan, M. & Charbonneau, J. (2009). Improving mail survey response rates using chocolate and replacement questionnaires. *Public Opinion Quarterly*. 73(2), 368-378.
- Brooker, G. & Klastorin, T. (1981). To the victors belong the spoils? College athletics and alumni giving. *Social Science Quarterly*. 62(4), 744-755.
- Brown, G. (2001, September 11). NCAA leaders testify before the new edition of the knight commission. NCAA News.
- Byers, W. & Hammer, C. (1995). *Unsportsmanlike conduct: Exploiting college athletes*.

 University of Michigan Press. Ann Arbor, MI.

- Canale, J. & Dunlap, L. (1996, June). The relative importance of various college characteristics to students in influencing their choice of a college. *College Student Journal.* 30, 2.
- Caughron, R. (2001). An historical perspective of reform in intercollegiate athletics. *International Sports Journal.* Winter, 1-16.
- Chressanthis, G. & Grimes, P. (1993). Intercollegiate sports success and first-year student enrollment demand. *Sociology of Sport Journal*. 10, 286-300.
- Christianson, E. (2009, May 6). Baseball, basketball, football improve their grades.

 NCAA News. Downloaded March 24, 2010 from http://www.ncaa.org/wps/portal/ncaahome?WCM_GLOBAL_CONTEXT=/ncaa/ncaa/media+and+events/press+room/embargoed/20090506+apr+release
- Christy, K., Seifried, C., & Pastore, D. (2008). Intercollegiate athletics: A preliminary study examining the opinions on the impact of the academic performance rate (APR). *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*. 1, 1-10.
- Coakley, J. (2004). Sports are more than reflections of society. *Sports in Society: Issues and Controversies*. 8th Ed. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Crowley, J. (2006). *In the arena: The NCAA's first century*. Digital Edition downloaded from http://www.ncaapublications.com/Uploads/PDF/in_the_arenaaeaf7293-fb6f-4938-9b6f-ab04197eb89f.pdf
- Cusack, M. (2007, November 9). The academic progress rate: Good PR, bad policy. Chronicle of Higher Education, 54(11), 58.
- Davies, R. (1994). America's obsession: Sports and society since 1945. Harcourt Brace. Fort Worth.

- Department of Interior (2009). What are Historically Black Colleges and Universities

 (HBCUs)? Downloaded on November 15, 2009 from

 http://www.doi.gov/hrm/black.html
- Duderstadt, J. (2000). Intercollegiate Athletics and the American University: A University President Perspective. Detroit, MI. University of Michigan Press.
- Explaining the APR. (2005, March 1). USA Today, Sports, 7c.
- Falla, J. (1981). NCAA: The Voice of College Sports. Mission, KS, NCAA.
- Ferris, E., Finster, M. & McDonald, D. (2004). Academic fit of student-athletes: An analysis of NCAA division I-A graduation rates. *Research in Higher Education*. 45(6), 555-575.
- Frank, R. (2004, May). Challenging the myth: a review of the links among college athletic success, student quality and donations. *Knight Foundation Commission on Intercollegiate Athletics*.
- Frey, J. (1985). The winning-team myth: Top teams don't always bring top dollar. *Currents.* 11, 32-35.
- Galotti, K. & Mark, M. (1994). How do high school students structure an important life decision? A short-term longitudinal study of the college decision-making process. *Research in Higher Education*. 35, 5.
- Gaski, J. & Etzel, M. (1984). Collegiate athletic success and alumni generosity: Dispelling the myth. *Social Behavior and Personality*. 12(1), 29-38.
- Gay, L., Mills, G. & Airasian, P. (2000). Educational research: Competencies for analysis and application (6th Ed.). Prentice-Hall. Englewood Cliffs, NJ.

- Goff, B. (2000). Effects of University Athletics on the University: A review and extension of empirical Assessment. *Journal of Sport Management*. 14.
- Gordon, L., Gordon, C. (Producer), & Robinson, P. (Director). (1989). *Field of Dreams*[Motion Picture]. United States: Universal Studios.
- Gorn, E. & Goldstein, W. (1993). A brief history of American sport. Hill and Wang. NewYork.
- Graduation success rate trend shows improvement. (October 8, 2007). *The NCAA News*, pg.2.
- Grimes, P & Chressanthis, G. (1994). Collegiate sports, NCAA sanctions, and alumni contributions to academics. *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 53.
- Hawes, K. (1999, November 8). NCAA born from need to bridge football and higher education. *The NCAA News*. .
- Hartman, S. & Goldfield, D. (2001, June 30). Faculty better suited for reform than CEOs. *The NCAA News*.
- Hishinuma, E. (1999). An update on NCAA college freshman academic requirements:

 The impact on students with LD. *Journal of Learning Disibilities*. 32(4), 362-371.
- Hishinuma, E & Fremstad, J. (1997). NCAA College freshmen academic requirements:

 Academic standards or unfair roadblocks for students... *Journal of Learning Disibilities.* 30(6), 589.
- Honan, W. (1996, June 9). News can, but sometimes doesn't, influence choice of college. *New York Times*. 145(50453), 1, 34.
- Hosick, M. (2009, May 6). Latest APR jumps three points. *The NCAA News*. Retrieved May 6, 2009 from http://www.ncaa.org/wps/ncaa?ContentID=49718

Hosick, M. (2008, May 6). Reform's in roads evident with APR release. *The NCAA News*. Retrieved May 6, 2008 from

http://www.ncaa.org/wps/portal/%21ut/p/kcxml/04_Sj9SPykssy0xPLMnMz0vM0

Y_QjzKLN4g38nYBSYGYxqb6kWhCjggRb31fj_zcVP0A_YLc0IhyR0VFAAB

TEJw%21/delta/base64xml/L0IDU0lKQ1RPN29na21BISEvb0VvUUFBSVFnak

ZJQUFRaENFSVFqR0VBLzRKRmlDbzBlaDFpY29uUVZHaGQtc0lRIS83XzBf

NVVWLzI1NDU0MzM%21?WCM_PORTLET=PC_7_0_5UV_WCM&WCM_

GLOBAL_CONTEXT=/wps/wcm/connect/NCAA/NCAA+News/NCAA+News+

Online/2008/Division+I/Reforms+inroads+evident+with+APR+release+-+05-06
08+NCAA+News

Howard, D. & Crompton, J. (2004). *Financing sport* (2nd Ed.). Morgantown, WV: Fitness Information Technology.

Inside the APR. (2006, March 2). USA Today, Sports, 9c.

Klein, A. (2004, July). Does this campaign work? University Business. 7(7), 74.

Knight Commission. (1993). Reports of the Knight Commission on Intercollegiate

Athletics. Retrieved September 27, 2009 from

http://www.knightcommission.org/images/pdfs/1991-93 KCIA report.pdf

Knight Commission (2001). A Call to Action: Reconnecting College Athletics and Higher Education. Retrieved September 27, 2009 from http://www.knightcommission.org/images/pdfs/2001 knight report.pdf

Kotler, P. (1994). *Marketing Management*. (8th Ed.). Prentice-Hall. Englewood Cliffs, NJ.

- Lawry, E. (2005). Academic integrity and college athletics. *Kappa Phi Forum.* 85(3), 20-23.
- Lally, P. & Kerr, G. (2005). The career planning, athletic identity, and student role identity of intercollegiate student athletes. *Research Quarterly for Exercise & Sport*. 76(3), 275-285.
- Le Crom, C., Warren, B., Clark, H., Marolla, J., & Gerber, P. (2009) Factors contributing to student athlete retention. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*. 2, 14-24.
- Leifer, E. (1995). *Making the majors: The transformation of team sports in America*.

 Harvard University Press. Cambridge. 39.
- Letawsky, N., Schneider, R., Pedersen, P. & Palmer, C. (2003, December). Factors influenceing the college selection process of student-athletes: Are their factors similar to non-athletes? *College Student Journal*. 37(4), 604.
- Lorenzetti, J. (2005, April 15). A new approach to marketing strategies for distance education. *Distance Education Report*. 9(8), 1.
- Maloney, M. & McCormick, R. (1992). An examination of the role that intercollegiate athletics plays in academic achievement. *The Journal of Human Resources*. 28, 556-570.
- Mangold, W., Bean, L., & Adams, D. (2003). The impact of intercollegiate athletics on graduation rates among major NCAA division I universities. *The Journal of Higher Education*. 74(5), 540-562.

- McCormick, R. & Tinsley, M. (1990). Athletics and academics: A model of university contributions. In Goff, B. & Tollison, R. (Eds), *Sportmetircs* (193-204). College Station, TX.
- Meyer, S. (2005). NCAA academic reforms: Maintaining the balance between academics and athletics. *Phi Kappa Phi Forum.* 85(3), 15-18.
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2004). NCAA division I graduations rates continue to exceed general student body. Retrieved November 2, 2007 from http://www2.ncaa.org/media_and_events/press_room/2004/october/20041025_graduations rates release.html
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2007a). NCAA division I academic performance program data collection guide. Retrieved April 20, 2008 from http://www1.ncaa.org/membership/governance/division_I/academic_performance/APPDataCollectionGuideAugust2007.pdf
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2007b). 2007-2008 guide for the college-bound student-athlete. Retrieved May 29, 2008 from http://www.ncaapublications.com/Uploads/PDF/2007-08_cbsa8d8f57f4-dbcb-40d1-b2b6-ca8e98d31839.pdf
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2009a). 2009-2010 NCAA Division I Manual.

 Indianapolis, IN. NCAA Academic and Membership Affairs Office.
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2009b). Federal graduation rates data archive.

 Retrieved October 16, 2009 from http://www.ncaa.org/wps/ncaa?ContentID=7721

 Petr, T. (1988). Bylaw 5-1-(j): A historical perspective. *New Perspectives*, 19(1), 15-18.

 Pickle, D. (2008). Prop 48 is growing old. *Champion*, 1(1), 33-39.

- Poor-grade penalties stiff: Troubled teams might face playoff bans in '09. (May 3, 2007). *USA Today*, Sports, 12c.
- Progress reports could mean tougher penalties for teams. (May 6, 2008). Retrieved on May 6, 2008 from http://sports.espn.go.com/ncaa/news/story?id=3383981
- Ridpath, D.. (2008). Can the faculty reform intercollegiate athletics? A past, present and future perspective. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*. 1(1), 11-25.
- Sack, A.L., & Staurowsky, E.J. (1998). College athletes for hire: The evolution and legacy of the NCAA's amatuer myth. Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Sander, L. (2007, November 9). Graduation rates of athletes outpace students at large.

 Chronicle of Higher Education, 54(11), 46.
- Schad, J. (2009, May 6). Ole Miss, Minnesota penalized. *ESPN.com.* retrieved on May 6, 2009 from http://sports.espn.go.com/ncf/news/story?id=4147127
- Scott, H. (1951). Competitive sports in schools and colleges. Harper & Brothers. New York.
- Sellers, R. (1992). Racial differences in the predictors for academic achievement of student-athletes in division I revenue producing sports. *Sociology of Sport Journal*. 9(1), 48-59.
- Sevier, R. (1993). Recruiting African-American undergraduates: A national survey of the factors that affect institutional choice. *College and University*. 68, 48-52.
- Shulman, J. & Bowen, W. (2001). The Game of Life: College Sports and Educational Values. New York. Princeton University Press.

- Sigelman, L. & Bookheimer, S. (1983). Is it whether you win or lose? Monetary contributions to big-time college athletic programs. *Social Science Quarterly*. 64(2), 347-359.
- Slack, T & Parent, M (2006). *Understanding Sport Organizations: The application of Organization Theory* (2nd ed.). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Sperber, M. (1990). *College sports inc.: The athletic department vs. the university.* New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Sperber, M. (2000). Beer and circus. New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Sperber, M. (2005, April 15). When 'academic progress' isn't. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 51, 32.
- Storch, E., Storch, J., Killiany, E., & Roberti, J. (2005). Self-reported psychopathology in athletes: A comparison of intercollegiate student-athletes and non-athletes.

 **Journal of Sport Behavior. 28(1), 86-98.
- Suggs, W. (2004, October 28). No way to calculate colleges' expenditures on athletics, panelists tell Knight Commission. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved on November 3, 2004 from http://chronicle.com/daily/2004/10/2004102802n.htm
- Suter, W. (1998). Primer of educational research. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon
- Toma, J. & Cross, M. (1996). Intercollegiate athletics and student college choice:

 Understanding the impact of championship seasons on the quantity and quality of undergraduate applications. Association for the Study of Higher Education. 1996

 Annual Meeting. Memphis, Tenn.

- Umbach, P., Palmer, M., Kuh, G., & Hannah, S. (2006). Intercollegiate athletics and effective educational practices: Winning combination or losing effort? *Research in Higher Education*. 47(6), 709-733.
- Wolniak, G. C., Pierson, C. T., & Pascarella, E. T. (2001). Effects of intercollegiate athletic participation on male orientations toward learning. *Journal of College Student Development*. 42(6), 604–624.
- Wolverton, B. (2006, October 6). As graduation rates, so do fears of academic shortcuts. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 53(7), A38.
- Wolverton, B. (2007, January 5). Athletes question effectiveness of NCAA rule. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 53(18), 33-34.
- Zimbalist, A. (1999). Unpaid Professionals: Commercialism and Conflict in Big-Time College Sports. Princeton, NJ. Princeton University Press.